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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

 
The consolidated statement of cash flows includes: 

 cash flows of fully consolidated companies; 

 cash flows arising from Group investments, dividends and other transactions with associates or 
jointly-controlled entities accounted for using the equity method. 

 
Definition of cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments (sight deposits and other instruments) that are 
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

They include units in “ordinary” money market funds but do not include units in dynamic funds that are highly 
sensitive to changes in market prices, in accordance with the guidelines issued jointly by the French accounting 
standards setter (Autorité des normes comptables - ANC) and the French financial markets authority (Autorité des 
marchés financiers - AMF) for the application of Regulation (EU) 2017/1131. This approach analyses both the fund 
prospectus and yield patterns (fund performance, volatility, etc.). 

Cash and cash equivalents reported in the statement of cash flows are stated net of bank overdrafts used for cash 
management purposes. 

Definition of cash flows from operating activities  

Cash flows from operating activities correspond essentially to the cash flows of the Group’s revenue-generating 
activities. 

Definition of cash flows from investing activities 

Cash flows from investing activities correspond to cash flows from purchases and sales of investment property and 
securities, owner-occupied property and equipment and intangible assets. 

Definition of cash flows from financing activities 

Cash flows from financing activities correspond to all cash flows leading to a change in the amount and components 
of equity and financing liabilities, as follows: 

 share issues and cancellations; 

 debt issues and repayments; 

 purchases and sales of treasury shares; 

 dividends paid to owners of the parent and non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
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(1) The amount reported under “Effect of changes in accounting policies and other changes” corresponds to reclassifications of 

cash equivalents as “Ordinary money market funds”  
 

 
Reconciliation of cash flows from financing activities to the amounts reported in the financial statements  
 
This table reconciles cash flows from financing activities to the amounts reported in the other financial statements. 
Other movements correspond to changes in deferred taxes and fair value adjustments to the cash flow hedge 
reserve recognised directly in equity. 
 
31.12.2019  

 
 
31.12.2018 
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Cash and cash equivalents reported in the consolidated statement of cash flows correspond to: 

 cash and cash equivalents reported in the consolidated balance sheet under assets; 

 operating liabilities due to banks corresponding to short-term bank loans and overdrafts other than financing 
liabilities, reported in the consolidated balance sheet under liabilities; 

 securities held for trading, consisting of money market mutual funds reported in the consolidated balance 
sheet under “insurance investments”. 
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OF THE PERIOD 
AND SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

Note 1 Significant events of the period 
 

€500 million Tier 2 subordinated notes issue 
On 5 February 2019, CNP Assurances completed a €500 million Tier 2 subordinated notes issue under the EMTN 
programme set up in December 2018. The issue qualifies as debt based on IFRS criteria. The 2.75% notes have a 
10-year life and are repayable at maturity. 
 
The issue proceeds will be eligible for inclusion in Solvency II regulatory capital. The notes have been rated BBB+ by 
Standard & Poor’s and A3 by Moody’s.  
 

Signature of an addendum to the framework agreement of 29 August 2018 between 
CNP Assurances and Caixa Seguridade 
On 20 September 2019, CNP Assurances announced that it had completed its discussions with Caixa Seguridade 
concerning their new exclusive distribution agreement in the Caixa Econômica Federal network in Brazil and signed 
an addendum to the framework agreement dated 29 August 2018. The main changes introduced in the addendum 
are as follows: 

 CNP Assurances will benefit from a 5-year extension of the exclusive distribution agreement, which will now 
run until 13 February 2046 (versus the original expiry date of 13 February 2041). 

 CNP Assurances’ share of pensions, personal risk and consumer finance term creditor insurance business 
written under the 29 August 2018 agreement will be kept at 51.75% until December 2020 (as opposed to 
being reduced immediately to 40% as previously agreed). 

 CNP Assurances will continue to write all the other classes of business through its subsidiary Caixa Seguros 
Holding until the current operating agreement expires on 14 February 2021 and none of these businesses 
will be discontinued ahead of that date. 

 The amount to be paid by CNP Assurances has been increased from R$4.65 billion to R$7.0 billion and the 
payment date has been set in December 2020. The addendum also includes incentives to outperform the 
first five years’ volume and margin objectives, in the form of additional payments, capped at R$0.8 billion 
(Group share) based on 31 December 2020 values. 

 
The agreement is subject to various conditions precedent, including the issuance of the necessary approvals by the 
competent supervisory and anti-trust authorities. Subject to these approvals being obtained, the transaction is 
expected to be completed between 15 and 31 December 2020. 
 

CNP Assurances has acquired exclusive control of its subsidiary CNP Cyprus Insurance 
Holdings 
On 7 October 2019, CNP Assurances announced that it had acquired Bank of Cyprus’s 49.9% interest in CNP 
Cyprus Insurance Holdings, which had been a 50.1%-owned subsidiary of CNP Assurances since the end of 2008. 
 
The additional shares were acquired for €97.5 million. 
 

Sale of the current head office building 
On 7 October 2019, CNP Assurances sold its head office building in the Montparnasse district of Paris for 
€299.4 million. The sale agreement includes a price adjustment clause whereby the price may be increased or 
reduced depending on changes in the building’s situation. 
 
CNP Assurances will continue to occupy the building under a tenant-at-will lease until the Group’s new head office 
currently under construction at Issy-les-Moulineaux is delivered. 
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CNP Assurances carries out an inaugural green subordinated notes issue of €750 million 
On 27 November 2019, CNP Assurances carried out an inaugural €750 million green subordinated notes issue.  
 
The notes, which are due 27 July 2050 with a first call date on 27 July 2030, qualify as Tier 2 capital under 
Solvency II. The interest rate is 2%. 

 
€250 million subordinated private placement notes issue 
On 10 December 2019, CNP Assurances placed €250 million worth of subordinated private placement notes with an 
institutional investor.  
 
The 0.80% notes due on 15 January 2027 qualify as Tier 3 capital under Solvency II.  
 

Extension of the distribution partnerships with the BPCE Group  
On 19 December 2019, the BPCE Group and CNP Assurances signed agreements extending the 2015 distribution 
partnerships between BPCE/Natixis and CNP Assurances that were originally due to expire on 31 December 2022. 
Under the new agreements, which came into effect on 1 January 2020, the distribution partnerships will now 
continue until 31 December 2030, thereby consolidating CNP Assurances’ multi-partner model. 
They also provide for the co-insurance rate for group term creditor insurance policies between Natixis Assurances 
(BPCE Vie and BPCE Prévoyance) and CNP Assurances to be balanced at 50/50 and for 34% of individual term 
creditor insurance business written by BPCE Vie to be reinsured by CNP Assurances. 
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Note 2 Subsequent events 
 

No significant changes occurred after the financial year-end.  
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES 

Note 3 Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
CNP Assurances SA, the parent company of the Group, is a société anonyme (joint-stock company) with a Board of 
Directors, governed by the French Insurance Code (Code des assurances). It has fully paid-up share capital of 
€686,618,477. The Company is registered in the Paris Trade and Companies Register under no. 341 737 062.  

The registered office is located at 4, place Raoul-Dautry, 75015 Paris. 

The Group’s principal business is the writing of personal insurance. CNP Assurances’ corporate purpose is to: 

 write life and endowment insurance;  
 write bodily injury insurance covering accident and health risks;  
 hold majority interests in insurance companies. 

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 include the financial statements of the 
Company and its subsidiaries, as well as the Group's interests in the results and net assets of jointly-controlled 
entities and associates. They were approved by the Board of Directors on 19 February 2020. 

3.1. Statement of compliance 

 
In accordance with EU directive 1606/2002/EC of 19 July 2002, the consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the IFRSs adopted by the European Union before 31 December 2019. 
 
The subsidiaries all apply Group accounting policies, as presented in these notes. 

3.1.1. New accounting standards adopted since 1 January 2019 

3.1.1.1. IFRS 16 – Leases 

IFRS 16 – Leases was published on 13 January 2016 and adopted by the European Union on 31 October 2017; it is 
applicable for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. It replaces IAS 17 – Leases and the related 
interpretations (IFRIC 4, SIC 15 and SIC 27). The principal aims of the new standard are to present the assets and 
liabilities of lessors and lessees more fairly, provide more transparent information, and improve the comparability of 
financial information presented by entities that lease assets and those that borrow funds to acquire assets outright. 
The main changes compared to IAS 17 are as follows: 

 all leases will be recognised in the lessees’ balance sheet, providing better visibility of their assets 
and liabilities; 

 IFRS 16 introduces a single lease accounting model for lessees, in which all leases are treated as 
finance leases; 

 lessees may elect not to apply IFRS 16 to short-term leases and leases for which the underlying 
asset is of low value (such as laptops); 

 a new definition of leases: “A lease is a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use 
an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration”;  

 the accounting treatment of service contracts is not modified by IFRS 16. However, the standard 
provides guidance on separating the “service” component of a complex contract from the “lease” 
component.  

The Group’s analyses have shown that the impact of applying IFRS 16 will not be material because of its limited use 
of leasing solutions. 
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3.1.1.2. IFRIC 23 – Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 

IFRIC 23 “Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments” is applicable for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2019. 

IFRIC 23 specifies how to account for uncertainties in income taxes.  

Application of this interpretation affects opening equity and leads to a reclassification in “Deferred tax liabilities”. The 
impact on opening equity is not material. 
 
 

3.1.1.3. Annual improvements and amendments 

The amendments to IAS 28 and IAS 19 are applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2019. Their impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements is not material. 
 
The amendments resulting from the 2015-2017 IFRS annual improvement cycles were adopted by the European 
Union on 15 March 2019 and are applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The 
annual improvements do not have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
 

3.1.2. Application of IFRS 9 deferred to 1 January 2021 (IFRS 4 amendment) 

 

The final version of IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments was published on 24 July 2014 and was adopted by the 
European Union on 22 November 2016. It is effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.  

However, the Group has elected to apply the option of deferring application until 1 January 2021 (see below). On 26 
June 2019, the IASB published an Exposure Draft proposing certain amendments to IFRS 17. In particular, the IASB 
proposed a one-year deferral of the standard’s current deferred effective date. 

This standard, which replaces IAS 39 – Financial Instruments, sets down accounting principles and disclosure 
requirements for financial assets and liabilities.  
 
The final version consolidates the three core phases, i.e., classification and measurement, impairment and hedge 
accounting. 

3.1.2.1. Main provisions of IFRS 9 

3.1.2.1.1. Classification and measurement 

IFRS 9 introduces a standard approach to classification and measurement of financial assets and contains only three 
classification categories: amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) and fair value 
through profit or loss (FVTPL).  

As far as debt instruments are concerned, the assessment is based around two criteria that determine how a 
financial asset should be classified and measured:  

 the business model that the entity uses for managing the financial asset; 

 the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. 

IFRS 9 introduces two types of business model as follows: 

 the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial asset to 
collect the contractual cash flows. If this is the case, the financial asset is measured at amortised 
cost; 

 the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets. If so, the financial asset must be measured at 
FVTOCI.  

 



Consolidated financial statements – 31 December 2019 

 

 

 

18 

 

All other financial assets must be measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). An entity may designate a 
financial asset as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an inconsistency in valuation 
methods or accounting treatment (sometimes referred to as an accounting mismatch). 

Equity instruments are always measured at FVTPL with the exception of those not held for trading. An entity may 
make an irrevocable election to present in other comprehensive income subsequent changes in the fair value of an 
investment in an equity instrument that is not held for trading (including realised gains and losses). Only dividends 
received from such investments are to be recognised in profit or loss. 

IFRS 9 retains the accounting treatment of financial liabilities but adds guidance on certain issues, notably the impact 
of changes in own credit risk in profit or loss when non-trading financial liabilities are measured at fair value. 

3.1.2.1.2. Impairment 

IFRS 9 also introduces a new debt instrument impairment model that involves writing off expected credit losses at 
initial recognition. Under IAS 39, impairment losses were only taken if there was a recognised risk due to the 
existence of one or more objective indicators of impairment. 

Under the new model, assets move through three stages: 

 at investment: the entity recognises 12-month expected credit losses and interest income is 
calculated on the gross carrying amount of the instrument; 

 stage 2: if there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, lifetime 
expected credit losses are recognised, and interest income is still calculated on the gross carrying 
amount of the asset; 

 stage 3: if a credit event affects the issuer, lifetime expected credit losses are recognised and 
interest income is calculated on the net carrying amount. 

3.1.2.1.3. Hedge accounting 

IFRS 9 broadens hedge accounting eligibility criteria in exchange for greater transparency in risk management 
disclosure.  

The new model marks an important change that aligns hedge accounting more closely with risk management and 
enables entities to disclose these activities more effectively in their financial statements. For example, IFRS 9 allows 
entities to hedge the risk components of non-financial items and homogeneous groups of items for all types of risk on 
a net basis. 

 
IFRS 9 changes certain aspects relating to hedging instruments. In particular, changes in the fair value of the time 
value of an option used as a hedging instrument may be recognised in OCI. Eligibility also extends to the forward 
element of a forward contract or the foreign currency basis spread, thus reducing volatility in the income statement. 

 
The standard also makes hedge effectiveness testing less rigid. Retrospective and prospective testing (using the 
80% to 125% bright line) is replaced by a single prospective test based on three effectiveness requirements: there is 
‘an economic relationship’ between the hedged item and the hedging instrument; the effect of credit risk does not 
‘dominate the value changes’ that result from that economic relationship; and the hedge ratio is consistent with the 
entity’s risk management approach. 

3.1.2.2. IFRS 9 transition arrangements under the deferral approach 

IFRS 9 was adopted on 22 November 2016 for use in the European Union for accounting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2018. However, the Group has deferred application as its activities are predominantly related to 
insurance.  
 

The publication on 12 September 2016 by the IASB of an amendment to IFRS 4 – Insurance Contracts stipulates 
how insurance undertakings should apply IFRS 9 in conjunction with IFRS 4. This amendment, which was adopted 
by the European Commission on 3 November 2017, was issued in response to the need to align first-time adoption 
of IFRS 9 with that of the new insurance standard (IFRS 17), and provides an option to defer adoption of IFRS 9 (the 
“deferral approach”).  

All traditional insurance companies have the automatic right to apply the deferral approach. 
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The IASB has also introduced an option to simplify application for Groups applying IFRS 9 by allowing associates 
and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method to continue to prepare their consolidation packages in 
accordance with IAS 39 if they are not required to adopt IFRS 9 in their separate financial statements. Application of 
this option by CNP Assurances enables the Group to continue accounting for financial assets in accordance with IAS 
39 during the transition period. 

CNP Assurances fulfils the eligibility criteria for adopting the deferral approach:  

 First, as of 31 December 2015, its insurance business represented more than the 90% threshold for 
applying this approach. 

 It is accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements of its three main 
shareholders which are financial institutions and which apply IFRS 9 as from 2018. As a result, it will 
not be required to prepare its consolidation package in accordance with IFRS 9. 

 The amendment to IFRS 4 requires additional disclosures in the notes during the transition period, 
concerning the classification of assets and the reporting entity's exposure to credit risk on assets 
meeting the criteria in IFRS 9 (assets for which the contractual cash flows consist solely of payments 
of principal and interest). 

These additional disclosures are presented in Note 8.11, in accordance with the IFRS 9 transitional arrangements 
concerning annual financial statements. 

3.1.3. Main accounting standards and interpretations approved by the European Union 
but not yet in force 

 
The amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards (published on 29 March 2018), to 
IAS 1 and IAS 8 (published on 30 October 2018) and to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 (published on 26 September 
2019) are effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. 

 
 

3.1.4. Main standards and interpretations published but not yet approved by the 
European Union 

3.1.4.1 IFRS 17 – Insurance contracts 

IFRS 17 – Insurance Contracts was published on 18 May 2017, representing the culmination of many years’ work by 
the IASB. IFRS 17 establishes the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of 
insurance contracts within the scope of the standard. It replaces IFRS 4 for annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2021 (with comparative information for 2020 to be presented on the same basis). 
 
On 26 June 2019, the IASB published an Exposure Draft proposing certain amendments to IFRS 17. In particular, 
the IASB proposed a one-year deferral of the standard’s effective date so that certain concerns could be addressed. 
The IASB is currently drafting amendments to IFRS 17 taking into account the points raised in the comment letters 
submitted during the Exposure Draft public consultation period. 
 
 
IFRS 17 will apply to: 

 written insurance and reinsurance contracts; 

 all reinsurance contracts giving rise to a significant insurance risk; 

 investment contracts with a discretionary participation feature. 

 
The new standard requires the insurance component of each contract to be recognised separately from the other 
components, such as:  

 certain embedded derivatives; 

 separate investment components; 

 other performance obligations, for example a promise to transfer non-insurance goods or services.  
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These components will be recognised and measured separately in accordance with the standard that would apply to 
them if they were separate contracts. 

When an insurance or reinsurance contract is written, the liability will be measured according to the Building Block 
Approach (BBA), based on the following blocks: 

 discounted present value of future cash flows that relate directly to the fulfilment of the contractual 
obligations (fulfilment cash flows); 

 a risk margin reflecting the uncertainty about the amount and timing of these cash flows; 

 a contractual service margin (CSM). 

The CSM represents the unearned profit of the group of insurance contracts that the entity will recognise as it 
provides services in the future. It is included in deferred revenue on the liabilities side of the balance sheet and 
recognised in income as the services are provided. If the group of insurance contracts is expected to generate a 
loss, rather than recording a negative CSM the expected loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss when the 
contracts are written.  

A second model – the Variable Fee Approach (VFA) – is applicable to insurance contracts with direct participation 
features that contain the following conditions: 

 the contractual terms specify that the policyholder participates in a share of a clearly identified pool 
of underlying items; 

 the entity expects to pay to the policyholder an amount equal to a substantial share of the fair value 
of returns from the underlying items; 

 a substantial proportion of the cash flows the entity expects to pay to the policyholder are expected 
to vary in line with changes in the fair value of the underlying items. 

In addition to the General Model (BBA), IFRS 17 also includes an optional simplified measurement approach – the 
Premium Allocation Approach (PAA) - which may be applied to: 

 all insurance contracts other than those with direct participation features provided that the PPA 
produces a measurement of the liability that would not be materially different from that produced 
applying the BBA; 

 contracts with a short duration (coverage period of one year or less).  

For the purpose of applying the PPA, the initial liability corresponds to the premiums received at initial recognition 
and no CSM is calculated. Acquisition costs may be deferred in assets or recognised as an expense.  

Under IFRS 17, insurance liabilities will be measured at a more granular level. Specifically, they will be divided into 
portfolios, as follows: 

 each portfolio will comprise contracts subject to similar risks that are managed together. A portfolio 
will not contain contracts written more than one year apart; 

 each portfolio will be divided into three accounting groups when the contracts are initially recognised, 
for the calculation and tracking of the contractual service margin (CSM). The groups are as follows: 

o contracts that are onerous at initial recognition; 
o contracts that at initial recognition have no significant possibility of becoming 

onerous; 
o other contracts. 
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Application of IFRS 17 will have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.  

 it will modify the presentation of the balance sheet and the notes; 

 the consolidated income statement will be renamed the statement of financial performance and will 
comprise two key indicators: 

o insurance service result, corresponding to insurance revenue less amortisation of 
the CSM and the risk adjustment, the experience adjustment (difference between 
expected claims and expenses and paid claims and expenses) and expenses on 
onerous contracts; 

o insurance finance income or expenses; 

 it will also lead to a major reorganisation of management processes, including statutory accounting, 
account closing, management accounting and internal and external reporting systems; 

 actuarial modelling tools are also expected to be affected; 

 in addition, the internal organisation of accounting processes will need to be adjusted, with the 
introduction of new measurement, consolidation and reporting processes. 

The effects of applying IFRS 17 are currently being analysed by the Group. IFRS 9 – Financial Assets replaces 
IAS 39 as from the same dates and the effects of applying these two new standards are being analysed jointly.  

 
IFRS 17 is in the process of being adopted by the European Union. The Group is contributing actively to the review 
of its implications by the accounting and insurance authorities in France and the European Union. 

3.1.4.2 Amendments to the following standards 

The amendments to IFRS 3 (published on 22 October 2018) have not yet been adopted by the European Union. The 
IASB currently expects these amendments to be applicable for accounting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2020. 

 
The Group is currently studying the potential impact of the amendments not applicable from 1 January 2019. 
 
 

3.2. Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
 

The following information is incorporated by reference in the Registration Document, in accordance with Article 28 of 
European Commission Regulation 809/2004/EC dated 29 April 2004: 

 the consolidated financial statements of CNP Assurances for the year ended 31 December 2018 and the 
related Statutory Auditors' report, as presented on pages 126 to 238, and pages 239 to 244, respectively, of 
the Registration Document filed with the AMF on 28 March 2019; 

 the consolidated financial statements of CNP Assurances for the year ended 31 December 2017 and the 
related Statutory Auditors' report, as presented on pages 112 to 224, and pages 225 to 229, respectively, of 
the Registration Document filed with the AMF on 29 March 2018; 

unless otherwise stated the consolidated financial statements are presented in millions of euros, rounded up or down 
to the nearest decimal. 
They have been prepared according to the cost model, except for (i) insurance assets and liabilities and assets and 
liabilities related to investment contracts with a discretionary participation feature which have been measured by the 
methods used in the French GAAP accounts, and (ii) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (financial 
assets held for trading and financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss), 
available-for-sale financial assets, investment property held in unit-linked portfolios and derivative instruments 
separated from their host contracts, which are measured using the fair value model. 

Non-current assets and groups of assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and their 
fair value less costs to sell, with the exception of deferred tax assets, assets generated by employee benefits, 
financial assets, investment property measured at fair value, biological assets and assets arising under insurance 
contracts, all of which are measured using their own specific valuation basis. 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRSs requires the use of estimates and assumptions 
that have an impact on the application of accounting policies and on the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, 
income and expenses. The main balance sheet headings concerned by such estimates and assumptions include 
goodwill (particularly with regard to impairment testing), the value of In-Force business, assets measured at fair 
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value not quoted in an active market, insurance-related assets and liabilities (technical reserves, deferred 
participation assets and deferred participation reserves) and deferred taxes. 

These estimates and the underlying assumptions are based on past experience, regulatory information, generally 
accepted actuarial principles and other factors considered reasonable under the circumstances and they are subject 
to sensitivity analyses when this is required by regulations or when such tests back up the assumptions made by the 
Group. 
 

They serve as the basis for the exercise of judgement in determining the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
which cannot be obtained directly from other sources. Actual values may be different from these estimates. 
Estimates and the underlying assumptions are reviewed at regular intervals. 

The effects of changes in accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the change occurs. 

The accounting policies described below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in the consolidated 
financial statements.  

They have been applied uniformly by all Group entities. 
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SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION 

Note 4 Scope of consolidation 

4.1. Scope of consolidation and associated companies 

 
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of subsidiaries, jointly-controlled entities and 
associates. Other than the regulatory capital requirements of the insurance subsidiaries, the Group does not have 
any restrictions limiting its access to assets or settling the liabilities of the entities within its scope of consolidation. 
 
Subsidiaries 

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Company. Control is a function of three elements: power over the investee; 
exposure, or rights, to variable returns from involvement with the investee; and the ability to use power over the 
investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns.  

Power results from existing rights that give the current ability to direct an investee’s relevant activities. The rights that 
confer power may differ depending on the investee’s purpose and design, structure, the nature of its relevant 
activities or the way in which decisions about the investee are taken. It is generally voting or similar rights that give 
an investor power, either individually or in combination with other arrangements. If contractual arrangements have a 
bearing on the relevant activities, they need to be analysed to determine whether rights held are sufficient to confer 
power. In circumstances where it is difficult to determine whether an investor’s rights are sufficient to give it power 
over an investee, it may be necessary to consider evidence of whether it has the practical ability to direct the relevant 
activities unilaterally. 

Exposure or rights to variable returns from involvement with the investee are assessed based on the investor’s 
returns from existing arrangements which have the potential to vary as a result of the investee’s performance. An 
investor assesses whether returns from an investee are variable and how variable those returns are on the basis of 
the substance of the arrangement and regardless of the legal form of the returns. 

Control results not merely from power over the investee and exposure to variable returns, but from the ability to use 
power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns from its involvement with the investee. Thus, 
an investor with decision-making rights must determine whether it is acting as a principal or an agent. 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated. 

New subsidiaries are consolidated from the date when control is acquired. Divested subsidiaries are consolidated up 
to the date when control is relinquished. 

Non-controlling interests represent the interests of minority shareholders in the Group’s subsidiaries. The materiality 
of these non-controlling interests is assessed based on the percentage interest in the share capital of the subsidiary, 
as well as their impact on the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Jointly-controlled entities (joint arrangements) 
 

A jointly-controlled entity is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group and one or more other parties exercise 
joint control. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when 
decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. There are 
two types of joint arrangement: 

 joint operations: a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have 
rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement. Each joint operator accounts 
for the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to its interest in the joint operation and in 
accordance with the applicable IFRSs; 

 joint ventures: a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights 
to the net assets of the arrangement. Each joint party recognises its interest in the joint venture as an 
investment using the equity method. 
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The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s interest in the joint venture, recognised using the equity 
method, from or up to the date when the Group exercises or ceases to exercise joint control. 
 
Associates 

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is defined as the power 
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the associate. 

It is presumed to be exercised when the Group holds at least 20% of the associate’s voting rights, directly or 
indirectly. However, this is only one of the criteria used, and the existence or absence of significant influence may be 
determined on the basis of other factors, regardless of the percentage of voting rights held. Other indicators of 
significant influence include representation on the board of directors or equivalent governing body of the associate 
and material transactions between CNP Assurances and the associate.  

The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the net assets and profits of associates, 
recognised using the equity method, from or up to the date when the Group exercises or ceases to exercise 
significant influence. 

If the Group’s share of an associate’s losses is equal to or greater than the carrying amount of its investment in the 
entity concerned, the investment is reduced to zero and recognition of the Group’s share of future losses is 
discontinued, unless the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations to bear a portion of future losses or to 
make payments on behalf of the associate. 

This exemption provided for in paragraph 18 of IAS 28 is used on a case-by-case basis when the value of an 
investment in a company over which the Group exercises significant influence is determined on the basis of 
participatory contracts (see Note 9.2).  

4.2. Business combinations and other changes in scope of consolidation 

 
Business combinations in which the Group acquires control of one or more businesses are recognised using the 
purchase method. 

Business combinations carried out prior to 1 January 2010 are recognised in accordance with the accounting 
principles used to prepare the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009. Non-controlling interests 
(also known as minority interests) are measured at the Group’s proportionate share in the acquiree’s net revalued 
assets, while adjustments to contingent consideration are treated as an adjustment to the cost of the combination. 

Business combinations that took place after 1 January 2010 are recognised and measured in accordance with 
revised IFRS 3. Consideration transferred (acquisition cost) is measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the 
assets transferred, liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by the buyer. The acquiree’s identifiable assets and 
liabilities are measured at fair value at the acquisition date. Costs directly attributable to the business combination 
are expensed as incurred. 

Any excess of the consideration transferred over the Group’s proportionate share in the net fair value of the 
acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recognised as goodwill (full goodwill method). CNP Assurances can 
choose to measure its non-controlling interests at fair value. 

Goodwill is calculated at the date control is obtained and is not adjusted after the end of the measurement period. No 
additional goodwill is recognised on subsequent acquisitions of non-controlling interests. 

Acquisitions and disposals of non-controlling interests are recognised directly in equity. 

If the consideration transferred is lower than the Group’s proportionate share in the net assets of the acquiree 
measured at fair value, the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss for the period. 

The initial accounting for a business combination must be completed within 12 months of the acquisition date. This 
timeline applies to the measurement of identifiable assets and liabilities, consideration transferred and 
non-controlling interests. In principle, any adjustments made after the measurement period affecting financial assets 
or liabilities are recognised in profit or loss, unless they concern errors whose correction leads to an adjustment of 
the purchase price allocation. 
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4.3. Intragroup transactions 

 
All transactions and balances between fully consolidated companies and all intragroup income and expenses are 
eliminated in full. Losses resulting from the impairment of an asset transferred in an intragroup transaction are not 
eliminated. 

4.4. Foreign currency translation into the Group’s presentation currency 

 
The functional currency of subsidiaries, in which the majority of transactions are denominated, is their local currency. 

Assets and liabilities of international operations – mainly international subsidiaries and independent branches – 
including goodwill and fair value adjustments recorded on consolidation, are translated into euros, i.e., the Group’s 
presentation currency, at the closing exchange rate.  

Income and expenses of international operations are translated at the exchange rate on the transaction date. For 
practical reasons, the average exchange rate for the period is used as the rate on the transaction date for currencies 
that have been subject to only limited fluctuations during the period. 

Translation differences between the exchange rates used to translate assets and liabilities, and those used to 
translate income and expenses are recognised separately in equity as a translation adjustment. 



Consolidated financial statements – 31 December 2019 

 

 

 

26 

 

4.5. Consolidated companies and percentage of voting rights at 31 December 

 

 
(1) CNP Partners Solutions has been liquidated following the contribution of its business to CNP Partners 
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(2) CNP Assurances has bought out all of the non-controlling interests 
(3) The CNP ACP Oblig FCP fund has been deconsolidated because it no longer fulfils the materiality criteria defined by the Group 
(4) The Natixis Ionis and CNP ACP 10 FCP funds are no longer owned by CNP Assurances 
(5) The CNP Assur Trésorerie Plus investment fund owned by CNP Assurances was consolidated for the first time in 2019 
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(6) The AEW Imcom 6 property fund was sold on 10 October 2019 
(7) The Renda Corporativa Angico property fund owned by Caixa Seguros Holding has been consolidated for the first time in 2019 
(8) The investment in Coentreprise de Transport d’Electricité (CTE) is mainly in representation of participatory contracts. For this reason, 
the Group has chosen to use the exemption from applying the equity method provided for in paragraph 18 of IAS 28 and to measure the 
CTE shares at fair value through profit or loss 
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4.6. Non-consolidated companies 
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French standard ANC 2016-09 requires details of controlled companies that are excluded from the scope of 
consolidation to be disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. The table above presents 
companies that are over 50%-owned by the Group but whose key indicators do not exceed the materiality thresholds 
for inclusion in the scope of consolidation.  
 
The materiality thresholds used by the Group are applied to companies that are over 50%-owned and to other 
companies that qualify as controlled entities based on the following criteria in IFRS 10: (i) power over the investee; 
(ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use its power 
over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns. In addition, economic reality is taken into account 
when applying the thresholds, with the result that certain subsidiaries whose indicators are below the thresholds are 
nevertheless consolidated. 
 

The list of non-consolidated companies and investments in which CNP Assurances holds a direct interest of more 
than 10% is presented in the Registration Document (in Note 5.4.4 to the annual financial statements). 
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4.7. Average number of employees of consolidated companies  

 

 
 
The above headcount does not include the headcount of the companies consolidated by equity method. 

4.8. Summary financial information: consolidated entities with material non-
controlling interests 

 

 
* All of the non-controlling interests were acquired by CNP Assurances in 2019. 

4.9. Summary financial information: material joint arrangements 

4.9.1. Significant partnerships 

 
At 31 December 2019, the Group has two material partnerships: Arial CNP Assurances and Holding d’Infrastructures 
Gazières. 
 
CNP Assurances also holds 40% of the capital of Arial CNP Assurances (ACA) and controls this company jointly with 
AG2R-La Mondiale.  
ACA’s corporate purpose is the design, distribution and management of supplementary employee retirement savings 
plans and employee benefit plans. 
It is accounted for using the equity method in CNP Assurances’ consolidated financial statements. 
 
The Group also holds 54.41% of the capital of Holding d’Infrastructures Gazières (HIG), which is controlled jointly 
with Caisse des Dépôts. Société d’Infrastructures Gazières (SIG), a wholly-owned subsidiary of HIG, in turn holds 
25% of the capital of GRTgaz, a company specialised in transporting natural gas. 
HIG is accounted for using the equity method in CNP Assurances’ consolidated financial statements. 
 
Financial information for ACA and HIG is provided in Note 4.11.1. 
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4.9.2. Significant associates 

 
At 31 December 2019, the Group owns one significant associate: Coentreprise de Transport d’Electricité (CTE). 
 
CNP Assurances holds a 20% interest in CTE, which has a 100% equity interest in Réseau de Transport d'Electricité 
(RTE). CNP Assurances exercises significant influence over RTE. However, as the investment’s value is determined 
almost entirely on the basis of participatory contracts, the Group has chosen to use the exemption from applying the 
equity method provided for in IAS 28, paragraph 18, and to measure the CTE shares at fair value through profit or 
loss.  
 
The fair value of the CTE shares at 31 December 2019 was determined by an independent expert and amounted to 
€1,209 million. 
 

 
The above data are extracted from the French GAAP accounts and concern 2018 as the 2019 financial statements 
were not yet available when these consolidated financial statements were drawn up. The amounts are presented 
before allocating profits and losses. 

4.10. Summary financial information: non-material joint arrangements 

 

 
The Group’s non-material joint arrangements are Assuristance, Ecureuil Vie Développement, Filassistance 
International and Wiz Soluçoes e Corretagem de Seguros S.A. 

4.11. Information relating to entities accounted for using the equity method 

4.11.1. Summary financial information on a 100% basis 

 

 
* The CNP ACP Oblig FCP fund has been deconsolidated because it no longer fulfils the materiality criteria defined by the Group The CNP ACP 
10 FCP fund is no longer owned by CNP Assurances 
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* Data for CNP ACP 10 FCP correspond to final data at 31 December 2017 

 

4.11.2. Investments accounted for using the equity method 

 

   
*Holding d’Infrastructures Gazières, Assuristance and Filassistance International were included in the scope of consolidation for the first 
time in 2018. 
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ANALYSIS OF THE MAIN COMPONENTS 
OF THE BALANCE SHEET 

Note 5 Equity 
 
Components of equity 
Equity includes share capital, retained earnings, unrealised gains and losses from remeasurement at fair value of 
available-for-sale financial assets net of tax and shadow accounting adjustments, adjustments to the capitalisation 
reserve and subordinated debt instruments classified in equity due to the discretionary nature of interest payments 
(see Note 5.5). 
 
Capital management 
Under European insurance directives, the Group is required to comply with certain minimum capital requirements at 
the level of the Company and of each of its European insurance subsidiaries, as well as at the consolidated level. 

At 31 December 2019, the insurance subsidiaries and the Group as a whole complied with these minimum Solvency 
Capital Requirements.  

Compliance with these requirements is regularly monitored, primarily through the Own Risk and Solvency 
Assessments (ORSA) conducted at Group level and at the level of the insurance subsidiaries in accordance with 
Solvency II. This information and the solvency capital calculations are reported to France’s insurance supervisor 
(Autorité de Contrôle Prudentiel et de Résolution - ACPR). 
 
Treasury shares 
The Group may acquire treasury shares via the liquidity contract set up for the purpose of stabilising the CNP 
Assurances share price or shares under employee share grant plans (see Note 13.3.2). Treasury shares are 
recorded as a deduction from equity in the IFRS accounts. 

 

5.1. Ownership structure 

 

 

* The terms and conditions of the CNP Assurances liquidity contract currently in force are set out in the resolution submitted to the 
2017 Annual General Meeting included in the 2016 Registration Document 

 

5.2. Number of shares 
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5.3. 2019 dividends 

 
The recommended 2019 dividend amounts to €0.94 per share, representing a total payout of €645.4 million.  
 
The 2018 dividend approved by the Annual General Meeting amounted to €0.89 per share, representing a total 
payout of €611.1 million. It was paid in 2019. 
 

5.4. Basic and diluted earnings per share 

 

 

Diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding at the end of the reporting period. 
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5.5. Undated subordinated notes reclassified in equity 

Subordinated notes for which the contractual clauses do not stipulate any obligation to repay the nominal amount or 
pay any compensation are classified as equity instruments. All other dated and undated debt instruments, especially 
those with a repayment schedule, are classified as financing liabilities in accordance with IAS 32. 
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Note 6 Intangible assets 

6.1. Intangible assets by category 

 

 
 

 

 

6.2. Goodwill 

 
Goodwill is equal to the difference between the acquisition cost to the buyer and the fair value of the corresponding 
identifiable assets and liabilities. Negative goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. 

Positive goodwill is:  

 recognised in intangible assets when it arises on the acquisition of entities consolidated by the full 
consolidation method; 

 included in investments accounted for using the equity method when it arises on the acquisition of an entity 
accounted for using the equity method; 

 recognised in the local currency of the acquiree and translated into euros at the closing exchange rate when 
it arises on the acquisition of an international entity (outside the eurozone). 

For impairment testing purposes, goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (CGUs) or groups of CGUs likely to 
benefit from the synergies developed within the scope of the business combination resulting from the acquisition. A 
CGU is defined as the smallest group of identifiable assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent 
of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets. The Group identifies CGUs by entity or group of similar 
entities. 

When goodwill is positive, it is stated in the balance sheet at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. It is no 
longer amortised but tested for impairment: 

 each year on the same date, usually close to the reporting date; or 
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 more frequently if events or changing market conditions indicate that it may be impaired since it was last 
tested for impairment; or 

 at the end of a period in which an acquisition has taken place if there is a marked deterioration in the 
business environment. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the goodwill has been allocated is 
less than its carrying amount. The recoverable amount is defined as the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use.  

The Group usually calculates value in use as the net asset value of the CGU plus the present value of expected 
future revenues from existing portfolios and new business. Projected future revenues are estimated by taking the 
embedded value of In-Force insurance policies and financial instruments, and the Value of New Business. 

Expected future cash flows are based on the assumption that the business will continue over the long-term and that 
relations with banking partners will be pursued beyond the renewal date of current agreements, as well as on 
forecasts that have been validated by the Board of Directors and extrapolated in line with the growth rates generally 
used within the industry for the businesses concerned, and using conservatively estimated discount rates in line with 
the weighted average cost of capital. The terminal values of subsidiaries do not assume growth to infinity. 
 

6.2.1. Goodwill by company 

 

              
 
Caixa Seguros Group 

Expected future cash flows were calculated at 31 December 2019 based on projections in the 2020-2029 business 
plan approved by management, reduced to zero beyond 31 December 2020 for discontinued operations in light of 
the uncertainty concerning the agreements and in order to be consistent with the carrying amount, which does not 
include the payment to be made in exchange for the renewal of the agreements. The discount rate was calculated 
based on the local 10-year government bond rate net of tax plus a risk premium of 6.5%. The 2019 discount rate was 
below that applied in 2018. 

At 31 December 2019, the recoverable amount of goodwill, as determined using the above assumptions, was greater 
than its carrying amount and no impairment loss was recognised. 

 
CNP Cyprus Insurance Holdings  

Expected future cash flows from the Life business were calculated at 31 December 2019 based on projections in the 
2020-2024 business plan approved by management, extrapolated over the period to 2029 using a 3% growth rate for 
individual life insurance, 2% for group life insurance and 0% for accident/health and term creditor insurance.  For the 
Non-Life business, expected future cash flows were estimated directly for the period until 2029 using a stable growth 
rate averaging 4%. The discount rate was calculated based on the local 10-year government bond rate net of tax 
plus a risk premium of 5%. The 2019 discount rate was below that applied in 2018. Goodwill on the Greek subsidiary 
(Zois) has not been valued since June 2013. 

At 31 December 2019, the recoverable amount of goodwill, as determined using the above assumptions, was greater 
than its carrying amount and no impairment loss was recognised. 
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CNP Santander Insurance 

Expected future cash flows were calculated at 31 December 2019 based on projections in the 2020-2024 business 
plan approved by management, extrapolated over the period to the end of the shareholder agreement (2034) using a 
constant growth rate. A discount rate of 3.91% was applied, down 1.14 points compared to the rate used in 2018. 

At 31 December 2019, the recoverable amount of goodwill, as determined using the above assumptions, was greater 
than its carrying amount and no impairment loss was recognised. 

The CNP Santander Insurance acquisition agreement includes an earn-out/earn-in clause based on the performance 
of the three entities included in the deal. The potential effect of applying this clause was not taken into account 
during the initial purchase price allocation. In 2019, an earn-out payment of €27 million was recorded by CNP 
Assurances. 

6.2.2. Changes in goodwill for the period 

 

 

* Translation adjustments on gross goodwill concern the Brazilian companies Caixa Seguradora, Previsul and Odonto Empresas 
Convenios Dentarios Ltda 

 

6.3. Value of In-Force business and distribution agreements 

 
The fair value of insurance contracts and financial instruments with a discretionary participation feature acquired in a 
business combination or a separate transaction is split into two components, as follows:  

 a liability measured in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies for insurance contracts and financial 
instruments with a discretionary participation feature; 

 an intangible asset (“value of In-Force business”) representing the difference between the fair value of these 
contracts and the amount described above.  

The value of In-Force business corresponding to purchased insurance portfolios is generally amortised by the 
effective interest method over the portfolios’ remaining life. 

 
The value of a distribution agreement represents the future cash flows expected to result from new business relating 
to a partner network falling within the scope of such an agreement. These intangible assets are estimated based on 
the terms and conditions specific to each agreement, and are amortised over the term of the agreement taking into 
account a residual value where appropriate. 
 
 
 
 
 
  



Consolidated financial statements – 31 December 2019 

 

 

 

42 

 

6.3.1. Value of In-Force business 

 

 

6.3.2. Changes in the value of In-Force business 

 

 

6.3.3. Distribution agreements 
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6.4. Software and other intangible assets 

 
Purchased software licences are recognised as an intangible asset at cost less accumulated amortisation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. 

Directly attributable internal and external costs of developing software for internal use, integrating business 
applications and evolutive maintenance are capitalised if, and only if, it is probable that they will have the effect of 
increasing the future economic benefits to be derived from the asset and comply with the other provisions of IAS 38. 
Costs that do not fulfil the criteria for recognition as an asset are recorded in expenses for the period. 

Software licences and development costs are generally amortised over periods of between five and eight years. 

6.4.1. Internally-developed software 

 

 
* Disposals also include assets scrapped during the year 

6.4.2. Other software and other intangible assets 

 

 
* Disposals also include assets scrapped during the year 
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Note 7 Owner-occupied property and other property and 
equipment 

 

The Group has elected to measure owner-occupied property using the cost model, as allowed by IAS 16. 

Under the cost model, properties are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to acquisition or construction are included in the cost of the asset and expensed 
once the building is in use. 

For the purpose of determining depreciation periods, properties are considered as comprising five significant parts 
with different useful lives:  

 land; 

 shell and roof structure; 

 facades and roofing; 

 fixtures; 

 technical installations. 

Maintenance costs are added to the cost of the part of the property to which they relate when it is probable that they 
will generate future economic benefits and they can be measured reliably. 

Expenses directly attributable to the purchase of a property are included in its cost and depreciated over the useful 
life of the shell. 
 
Depreciation 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the acquisition or construction cost of each significant 
part of a property over its estimated useful life.  

Due to the difficulty of reliably determining the residual value of property, investment and owner-occupied properties 
are considered as having no residual value.  

Depreciation periods are based on the estimated useful lives of the significant parts of each property, with the 
exception of land which is not depreciated. These periods are as follows: 

 shell: 50 years; 

 facades and roofing: 30 years, except for warehouses, factories, shopping centres and cinemas: 20 years; 

 technical installations: 20 years; 

 fixtures: 10 years. 
 
Impairment 

In accordance with IAS 36, owner-occupied properties are tested for impairment at the level of the cash generating 
unit to which they belong and are therefore excluded from the scope of impairment tests on investment property. 
 
Equipment 
 
Equipment consists mainly of office equipment and miscellaneous installations. 
Office systems equipment is depreciated over three years and fixtures, fittings and technical installations over 
ten years. 
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Note 8 Insurance investments 
 
Classification 

Financial assets are allocated among the following four categories, based on the type of portfolio, the type of 
financial assets, the specific features of certain financial assets and prioritised application of the criteria defining each 
category: 

 financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, corresponding to assets held for trading and assets 
designated at the outset as being at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with the fair value option. 
Financial assets allocated to this category include assets backing unit-linked liabilities, assets with an 
embedded derivative that is separable from the host contract, assets of consolidated mutual funds and 
derivative instruments;  

 held-to-maturity investments, corresponding to fixed-income securities that the Group has the positive 
intention and ability to hold to maturity. This classification is applied restrictively to certain bonds, held mainly 
by the Group’s Brazilian subsidiary; 

 loans and receivables, corresponding to non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market, other than assets classified as held for trading or available-for-sale; 

 available-for-sale financial assets, corresponding to assets that are not held with the firm intention of being 
sold but which the Group may decide to sell, for example to meet its liquidity needs. This classification is 
applied to assets not classified in any of the above three categories. 

 
Recognition 

Financial assets are recognised in the balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recorded on the transaction date. 

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value. The carrying amount includes directly attributable transaction 
costs, except in the case of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
Derecognition 

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or the 
asset is transferred in a transaction that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial 
asset. 
 
Valuation method 

Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured 
at fair value.  

Changes in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets are recognised directly in equity, taking into account the 
impact on liabilities arising from insurance contracts and financial instruments with a discretionary participation 
feature (DPF) (in accordance with the shadow accounting principle, see Note 9.2) and the deferred tax effect. 

Changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised directly in profit or loss, 
taking into account the impact on liabilities arising from insurance contracts and financial instruments with DPF (in 
accordance with the shadow accounting principle, see Note 9.2) and the deferred tax effect. 

Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost by the effective interest 
method. Commissions and fees paid or received, directly attributable transaction costs, and all other premiums or 
discounts are recognised in the income statement over the expected life of the instrument.  

Mutual funds and non-trading property companies are fully consolidated (in accordance with IFRS 10) or accounted 
for using the equity method (in accordance with IAS 28). The level of control of mutual funds is assessed separately 
for each fund based on the following criteria: 

 the relationship between the principal and the agent; 

 the Group’s power over the fund manager; 

 the Group’s exposure to variable returns, as assessed by applying a specific threshold.  
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Non-controlling interests in fully consolidated mutual funds are reported on a separate line of the consolidated 
balance sheet, “Liabilities towards holders of units in controlled mutual funds”. Units in mutual funds are measured 
using the fund’s most recently published net asset value. The underlying financial assets are reported in the 
consolidated balance sheet under “Insurance investments” based on their contribution to the fund’s net asset value.  

The fair value of financial instruments for which there is no active market is estimated using a valuation technique. 
Valuation techniques include using recent arm’s length market transactions between knowledgeable, willing parties, 
if available, reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same, discounted cash 
flow analysis and option pricing models. 
 
Impairment 

Financial assets other than those measured at fair value through profit or loss are tested for impairment at each 
reporting date. A financial asset has been impaired if there is objective evidence of impairment based on one or a 
number of events whose impact on the asset’s estimated future cash flows may be reliably determined.   
 
Assets measured at amortised cost and debt instruments available for sale 

For debt instruments held to maturity or available for sale, an impairment loss related to their fair value is recognised 
in the income statement if future cash flows are unlikely to be entirely recoverable due to the existence of one or 
more objective indicators of impairment.  

However, downgrading by a rating agency or widening credit spreads do not in themselves constitute objective 
evidence of impairment. One or a combination of the following factors would constitute objective evidence of 
impairment: 

 a credit event as defined by the ISDA (International Swaps and Derivatives Association), namely bankruptcy 
of the entity in question, failure to pay, or a reorganisation; 

 knowledge of material financial difficulties being experienced by the counterparty that amount to a 
recognised risk, even in instances where the counterparty has not actually defaulted; 

 the existence of certain facilities that would not have been granted to the counterparty in the absence of 
financial difficulties. 

 
Available-for-sale equity instruments 

At each reporting date, available-for-sale equity instruments are reviewed to determine whether there is any 
objective evidence that they are impaired. This is considered to be the case when there is:  

 a prolonged decline in fair value: the market price is less than the average carrying amount over the three 
years preceding the reporting date; or 

 a significant decline in fair value: the market price at the reporting date represents less than 50% of the 
average carrying amount. 

When objective evidence of impairment is detected, the cumulative unrealised loss previously recorded directly in 
equity is recognised in profit or loss.  

Moreover, in all cases where these thresholds have not been exceeded but the market price represents less than 
70% of the average carrying amount over the previous six months, the Group systematically tests all equity 
instruments on an asset-by-asset basis to ascertain whether or not an impairment loss needs to be recognised.  

This approach is based on both the materiality of the decline in fair value and the intrinsic underlying features of the 
valuation for each asset. 

Any subsequent decline in fair value is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment expense. 

A similar method is employed for unlisted variable-income securities. 
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Reversals of impairment losses 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets 

Impairment losses recognised in the income statement on available-for-sale equity instruments are reversed through 
profit or loss when the instrument is derecognised. 

If the fair value of an available-for-sale debt instrument increases in a subsequent period due to new circumstances, 
e.g., an improvement in the counterparty’s credit rating, the impairment loss is reversed in profit or loss. 
 
Loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by 
adjusting the allowance account, provided that the reversal does not result in a carrying amount of the financial asset 
that exceeds what the amortised cost would have been, had the impairment not been recognised at the date the 
impairment is reversed. The impairment loss is reversed in profit or loss. 
 
Structured entities 
CNP Assurances’ business involves investing in different types of financial assets both in policyholder and own-fund 
portfolios as part of asset allocation and financial risk diversification strategies.  
 
Under IFRS 12, structured entities are entities that have been designed so that voting or similar rights are not the 
dominant factor in deciding who controls the entity. In the Group’s case, mutual funds and asset-backed security 
funds fulfil the criteria for classification as structured entities. 
 
Details of CNP Assurances' investments in non-consolidated structured entities are disclosed in Note 8.2.4 of the 
annual financial statements, in compliance with paragraph 26 of IFRS 12 ("An entity shall disclose qualitative and 
quantitative information about its interests in unconsolidated structured entities, including, but not limited to, the 
nature, purpose, size and activities of the structured entity and how the structured entity is financed.")  

8.1. Investment property 

 
Investment property is property (land or building) held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both, rather than 
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes, or for sale in the ordinary 
course of business. 
 

The Group has elected to measure investment property using the cost model (see Note 7 for details), as allowed by 
IAS 40, except for properties held in unit-linked portfolios which are measured at fair value. 
 
Details of the fair value of properties measured using the cost model are also disclosed in these notes to the financial 
statements. Fair value corresponds to the probable realisable value of properties and shares in unlisted property 
companies. It is determined on the basis of five-year valuations performed by a qualified expert recognised by the 
ACPR. In the period between two five-year valuations, fair value is estimated at each year-end and the amounts 
obtained are certified by a qualified expert. 
 
Impairment 

At the end of each reporting period, properties are assessed to determine whether there is any indication that they 
may be impaired. One such indicator is a loss of over 20% of the building’s value measured against cost. If there is 
evidence of impairment, CNP Assurances estimates the recoverable amount of the building concerned. 

The recoverable amount of a property is the higher of its value in use and its market price less costs to sell, as 
determined by annual independent valuations of the Group’s entire property portfolio. 
 
The purpose of this note is to show depreciation and impairment losses recognised/reversed during the period 
through profit or loss in respect of property and the captions impacted by the movements.  
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It presents: 

 the gross carrying amount and accumulated depreciation (aggregated with accumulated impairment losses) 
at the beginning and end of the period; 

 a reconciliation of the carrying amounts of investment property at the beginning and end of the period, 
showing (i) additions; (ii) disposals; (iii) depreciation; (iv) impairment losses recognised and reversed during 
the period; (v) the net exchange differences arising on the translation of the financial statements into a 
different presentation currency, and on translation of an international transaction into the presentation 
currency of the reporting entity; (vi) transfers to and from inventories and owner-occupied property; and (vii) 
other changes; 

 the fair value of investment properties held in unit-linked portfolios. 
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As explained in the description of significant accounting policies, investment properties backing linked liabilities are 
measured at fair value, while other investment properties are measured using the cost model. 
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8.2. Investments by category 

 
The following tables show the fair value of securities held by the Group, by category and intended holding period. 

8.2.1. Investments at 31 December 2019 
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Traditional savings and unit-linked portfolios at fair value through profit or loss at 31 December 2019 
 
 

 
(1) Investment properties and shares in non-trading property companies are reported together in an amount of 
€1,580.8 million 
Derivative instruments with a positive fair value are recorded as assets and those with a negative fair value are 
recorded as liabilities. 
 
  



Consolidated financial statements – 31 December 2019 

 

 

 

53 

 

8.2.2. Investments at 31 December 2018 

 

 
 

Traditional savings and unit-linked portfolios at fair value through profit or loss at 31 December 2018 
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8.2.3. Reconciliation of insurance investments in the balance sheet to investments 
analysed in Notes 8.2.1 and 8.2.2 

 

 

8.2.4. Non-consolidated structured entities 

8.2.4.1. Non-consolidated structured entities at 31 December 2019 

 

 
 

8.2.4.2. Non-consolidated structured entities at 31 December 2018 
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8.3. Measurement of assets recognised at fair value 

 
A financial instrument is considered as traded in an active market when quoted prices are readily and regularly 
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service or regulatory agency and these prices 
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions conducted on an arm’s length basis. The main criteria 
used in determining whether or not a market is active is how recent the quoted prices actually are as well as the 
liquidity of the securities traded. The market in question will be considered inactive if one or more of the following 
indicators is observed: a sharp fall in the number of transactions, a major increase in settlement costs or volatility, or 
a rapid widening in Z-spreads.  
 
In the case of financial instruments whose price is not quoted in an active market (i.e., no price is quoted or a price is 
quoted but the market does not qualify as active, as is the case for certain structured products), fair value prices are 
estimated using valuation techniques. These are based on:  

 prices not freely available provided upon demand by the arrangers or pricing services, or prices provided by 
an external agency that are freely available but where the market on which the assets are traded is not 
always active; 

 internal models that maximise the use of observable market data to measure financial assets. 
 
Structured product valuation principles 

The aim of the valuation techniques is to obtain estimated values that approximate the economic value of a position 
using prices and rates corresponding to the underlying assets or benchmark interest rates. The prices quoted by the 
arrangers correspond to the estimated amount that a buyer would be willing to pay to purchase the asset. Actual 
prices could be significantly different from these estimates, due to various factors such as credit spreads, market 
liquidity, the size of the position, financing costs, and hedging costs and risks.  

The valuation techniques used: 

 make maximum use of market inputs; 

 incorporate all factors that market participants would consider in setting a price; and 

 are consistent with accepted economic methodologies for pricing financial instruments.  
 
The prices established by the counterparties are obtained in principle every month, in particular following the 
signature of a liquidity letter. The valuations communicated by the counterparties correspond to an economic value 
of the securities.   
The CNP Assurances Group verifies the reliability of these data from an evaluation whenever possible (estimated 
future cash flows for example) or questions counterparties as to the methodologies used if necessary. The values of 
the counterparties examined so far have been confirmed by the CNP Assurances Group, which ensures both the 
quality of the counterparty valuation methods and the quality of the ratings of the issues and the absence of a credit 
incident. 
 
Fair value hierarchies 

Financial instruments are classified in three categories based on the fair value hierarchy, as follows: 

Level 1: financial instruments measured using quoted prices in active markets.  

The fair value of most financial instruments held by the Group is determined based on the quoted market price, 
whenever quoted prices are readily and regularly available and represent actual and regularly occurring market 
transactions conducted on an arm’s length basis. The active market for such transactions is the market in which the 
most recent prices were quoted along with the largest volumes of transactions. The following financial assets are 
measured at their quoted market price: 

 equities, measured on the basis of quoted prices on their reference market; 

 mutual fund units, measured at their net asset value; 

 bonds, EMTNs, BMTNs: for each instrument, the value is determined based on the most recent quoted 
prices available – on the stock exchange, from brokers, trading rooms or trading platforms, the ICMA Price 
Service (average prices) or BGN (average prices excluding highs and lows), taking into account liquidity 
factors in the choice of market; 

 BTAN treasury notes, at the prices quoted under the Banque de France’s centralised quotation system; 
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 Derivatives listed on an organised market. 

Level 2: financial instruments measured by standard valuation techniques using mainly observable inputs.  

These include: 

 certain structured products measured using an internal model and mainly market parameters; 

 derivative instruments purchased over-the-counter that are measured using an internal model and mainly 
market parameters; 

 TCN money-market securities other than BTANs that are no longer listed and are measured based on the 
zero coupon price curve plus a spread; 

 investment property measured based on prices recorded for similar recent transactions or the rental value of 
equivalent-type properties; 

 any other over-the-counter financial instruments. 
 

Structured products held by the Group consist of financial instruments for which income is indexed to indices, 
baskets of equities, hedge funds, interest rates and credits. They may also comprise embedded derivatives that can 
modify the structure of revenues or repayments. 
 
 
The Group uses valuations of its complex products prepared internally, or by an external valuer, acting as a 
delegate. They include structured products and derivative instruments used for hedging purposes. Due to their 
complexity, the valuation process involves using sophisticated models and methods, generally based on a 
probabilistic approach. 
 
Overall, these two product categories are valued using market models and the market data required for each model 
at the calculation date (see table below). 
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Structured products Models/Methods 

Interest-rate linked structured notes 4-Factor Libor Market Model (LMM) 
Hybrid Equity Black-FX Model 
Hull-White 1-Factor Model 

Equity linked structured notes Dupire model 
Heston model 
Dupire hybrid equation - Hull-White 1-Factor Model 

Inflation-indexed complex structured products Jarrow-Yildirim model 

 
 

Asset class Financial instruments Models/Methods 

Inflation derivatives 

Inflation swaps Future cash flows discounted using bi-curve model 

Swaps with an embedded 
option 

Black model 

Caps/floors 

SABR smile model 

Hull-White One-Factor Model (stochastic volatility) 

CMS replication 

Inflation derivatives Swap inflation 
Black model 

SABR smile model 

Credit derivatives CDS options Black-Scholes formula (Markit volatilities)  

Equity derivatives 

Floors 
Heston model calibrated across the SX5E’s entire 
implicit volatility surface and Black-Scholes using 
historical volatility for the EMTXGC and QW1M funds 

CAC and SX5E puts 
Black-Scholes model with volatility surface developed 
based on option prices quoted on Bloomberg 

JPY swaps (with 
currency option at 
each swaplet) 

JPY swaps 
(with currency option at 
each swaplet) 

FX Basket (FXBA) model with Black-Scholes (Reuters 
volatilities) 

  

Funds Fund options (Quattro) Black Basket model with historical volatility 

 
 

Level 3: financial instruments measured using inputs not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 
These are defined as inputs based neither on observable market transactions involving the same instrument at the 
measurement date, nor on observable market data available at the same date.  

This category includes CNP Assurances’ investments in unlisted companies and certain asset-backed securities. 
Unlisted securities are measured using information not available on an active market.  The main valuation 
techniques are the market multiples method, comparisons with recent market transactions and the discounted 
dividends method, corresponding to the techniques commonly used to manage these instruments. 

In addition, some complex structured securities and for which valuation is obtained through the counterparty are 
classified in this category.  
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8.3.1. Valuation methods at 31 December 2019 

 

 
* Includes derivative financial instruments (assets) 

 
 Financial assets classified as level 2 in the fair value hierarchy can be analysed as follows by type: 

 

  

 
 
Financial assets classified as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy can be analysed as follows by type: 
 

 
 
  



Consolidated financial statements – 31 December 2019 

 

 

 

59 

 

8.3.2. Valuation methods at 31 December 2018  

 

 
* Includes derivative financial instruments (assets) 

 
Financial assets classified as level 2 in the fair value hierarchy can be analysed as follows by type: 
 

 
 
Financial assets classified as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy can be analysed as follows by type: 
 

 
The Group’s derivative instruments are collateralised and the counterparty risk is therefore limited. In addition, the 
credit value adjustment (“CVA”) is not material, due to the nature of the Group’s forward financial instruments and 
the calculation base. 
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8.3.3. Reconciliation of movements for the period in securities measured using a 
valuation model not based solely on observable market inputs 
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8.4. Repurchase agreements/Lent securities 

 
Repurchase and securities lending transactions are part of the Group’s portfolio optimisation strategy. 
The securities sold or loaned are not derecognised as the Group retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership. 
They continue to be carried in the same asset category (with their value adjusted accordingly) and the cash received, 
which represents a liability to the transferee, is recorded in “Operating liabilities represented by securities”.  
The Group remains exposed to changes in the fair value of securities sold or loaned and has virtually no 
counterparty risk exposure due to the margin calls used to safeguard the value of the securities in question. 
 
The following table analyses the carrying amount of securities sold under repurchase agreements, by asset category 
and intended holding period: 
 

 
 

The following table analyses the carrying amount of lent securities, by asset category and intended holding period:  
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8.5. Movements for the period 

8.5.1. 2019 
 

 
* See Note 18.3 

8.5.2. 2018 

 

 
* See Note 18.3 

8.6. Derivative instruments 

 

A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract within the scope of IAS 39 with all three of the following 
characteristics: 

a) its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, 
commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other 
variable (the “underlying”); 

b) it requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required for other 
types of contracts that would be expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors; and 

c) it is settled at a future date. 

Derivative instruments are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss except for instruments 
designated as hedges whose effectiveness can be demonstrated.  

Embedded derivatives are separated from their host contract and recognised as derivative instruments when the 
following three conditions are met: 

 the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the economic 
characteristics and risks of the host contract; 

 a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a 
derivative; 
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 the hybrid (combined) contract is not measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or 
loss. 

 
If the Group is unable to measure the embedded derivative separately either at acquisition or at a subsequent 
financial reporting date, the entire combined contract is treated as a financial asset or financial liability at fair value 
through profit or loss. 
 
The following table analyses derivative instruments recorded in assets (positive fair value) and in liabilities (negative 
fair value) by maturity: 
 

 
 

 

8.7. Derivative instruments qualifying for hedge accounting 

 

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments are accounted for in accordance with IAS 39 if they are part of a 
designated hedging relationship as defined by the standard.  

For all hedging instruments, the Group (i) documents the hedging relationship and the risk management objective 
and strategy for undertaking the hedge, and (ii) assesses the effectiveness of the hedge at inception and over the life 
of the hedge by demonstrating the effectiveness of the hedging relationship both retrospectively and prospectively. 

Cash flow hedge accounting consists of recognising the effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative 
in equity. The gain or loss on the ineffective portion of the hedge is immediately recognised in profit or loss. The 
cumulative gains or losses recognised in equity are recycled to the income statement over the period in which the 
hedged item impacts profit or loss. If the hedging instrument expires, is sold or no longer qualifies for hedge 
accounting, cumulative gains or losses recognised in equity are recycled to the income statement either immediately 
or as and when the transaction initially hedged is completed. 
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The fair values of derivatives designated as hedging instruments are as follows: 

 

 
 (1) The notional amount at 31 December 2019 includes the notional amount of hedging instruments purchased in 
2018 in connection with the renewal of the agreements in Brazil 
 
CNP Assurances has set up two currency swaps to hedge changes in the euro amount of interest and principal due 
on two subordinated notes issues denominated in foreign currencies: 

- the first on sterling-denominated subordinated notes issued in 2011  
hedges payments on the notes through to 30 September 2021 against fluctuations in the sterling-euro exchange 
rate; 
- the second concerns subordinated notes issued in US dollars in January 2016 and hedges payments on the 

notes through to 22 January 2029. 
 

These derivatives are eligible for cash flow hedge accounting, as described above. At 31 December 2019, no 
amount had been recognised in profit or loss for the ineffective portion of the hedges. 

 
In 2018, the Group purchased currency options to hedge the impact of a possible increase in the exchange rate for 
the Brazilian real against the euro on cash flows related to the renewal of the agreements with Caixa Econômica 
Federal in Brazil. These options qualify for hedge accounting as cash flow hedges. The hedge covers part of the 
payment to be made on the closing date for the distribution agreements with the Group’s local partner, Caixa 
Seguridade. 
During 2019, the option’s notional amount, expiry date and exchange rate were adjusted to take account of ongoing 
negotiations. The accounting impact of these adjustments was recognized: 

- in the cash flow hedge reserve for the amount corresponding to the gain realised on the original derivative 
(approximately €30 million), and 

in assets for the amount of the new premium paid on the adjusted derivative (approximately €24 million).   
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8.8. Credit risk 

8.8.1. Analysis of the bond portfolio at 31 December 2019 by issuer rating 

 

 

8.8.2. Analysis of the bond portfolio at 31 December 2018 by issuer rating 
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8.9. Classification of investments by category and by geographic region 

8.9.1. Classification of investments by geographic region at 31 December 2019 

 

 
 

 
* Cost net of amortisation and impairment, including accrued interest 

 
At 31 December 2019, the Group’s gross sovereign debt risk exposure calculated on a fair value basis totalled 
€156.1 billion, or an estimated exposure net of deferred participation and deferred taxes of €12.3 billion. Virtually all 
of the securities concerned are classified as available-for-sale financial assets. The Group’s exposure is calculated 
based on asset values and before non-controlling interests. 

The calculation of net exposure has been standardised at Group level and reflects both the current market 
environment and policies concerning deferred participation: calculating net exposure from gross exposure takes 
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account of the impacts of deferred taxes and deferred participation based on shadow accounting principles. In 
accordance with these principles, a change in the deferred participation reserve is recorded to offset unrealised 
gains or losses on financial assets taking into account contractual participation obligations and the Group’s 
policyholder bonus policy (see Note 9.2). The relatively low weighting of contracts with a guaranteed yield and the 
Group’s ability to allocate losses on financial assets to policyholders over the long term, reinforces the validity of this 
approach to presenting the impact of net exposure. 

The apparent 7.9% ratio of "net exposure" to "gross exposure" therefore reflects the deferred tax impact (factor of 
approximately 65.2% corresponding to the impact of the weighted average tax rate on the Group's entities) and a 
deferred participation impact (a 12.1% factor, supplementing the effective participation rate taking into account the 
exclusion of assets held in unit-linked funds, which corresponds to shareholders' entitlements to unrealised gains or 
losses). 

The combination of these two impacts (taxes and deferred participation) results in a net exposure to gross exposure 
ratio of 7.9% (65.2% multiplied by 12.1%) 

The difference between gross and net exposure does not necessarily represent the loss that would be borne by 
policyholders. In particular, the recoverability of successive losses on sovereign debt is limited by the following: 

 the Group’s ability to lower the discretionary participation it pays to policyholders. In France, the estimated 
minimum guaranteed interest rate is approximately 0.23% for a projected DPF rate of around 1.14% at 
end‑ 2019; 

 unrealised gains, especially on property (€4.8 billion) and on equities (€12.9 billion). These amounts would 
be taken into account when testing any deferred participation assets for recoverability. 

 
In the absence of an incurred loss, no other sovereign debt securities have been impaired. 
 

8.9.2. Classification of investments by geographic region at 31 December 2018 
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8.10. Foreign currency balances 

 
The individual Group entities translate foreign currency transactions into the entity’s functional currency at the 
exchange rate on the transaction date. For practical reasons, the last available exchange rate for the month 
preceding the transaction date is used as the rate on the transaction date for currencies that have been subject to 
only limited fluctuations during the period. 

At each reporting date, monetary balance sheet items (excluding available-for-sale financial assets) are translated 
using the closing rate, and the resulting exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss unless hedge 
accounting is used as described in Note 8.6 above. 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured using the cost model are translated into euros at the exchange rate on 
the transaction date, while non-monetary assets and liabilities measured using the fair value model are translated at 
the exchange rate on the date of remeasurement at fair value. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is 
recognised directly in equity, e.g., when a non-monetary asset is classified as available-for-sale, the difference 
arising on translation of the item is also recognised in equity. Similarly, when a gain or loss on a non-monetary item 
is recognised directly in profit or loss, the translation difference is also recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency (i.e., denominated in currencies other than the 
functional currencies of Group entities) and which are not covered by foreign exchange derivatives represented less 
than 0.5% of consolidated assets and liabilities in 2017, 2018 and 2019. 
 
In preparation for the United Kingdom’s forthcoming exit from the European Union, the Group has identified all of its 
exposures to sterling-denominated assets held directly or through funds. The review showed that less than 1% of 
total assets (€403.3 billion) were exposed to a risk of changes in the euro/sterling exchange rate. 
 

8.11. Temporary exemption from applying IFRS 9  

 
IFRS 9 was adopted on 22 November 2016 for use in the European Union for accounting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2018. On 03 November 2017, the European Commission also adopted an amendment to IFRS 4 – 
Insurance Contracts that was published by the IASB on 12 September 2016 and describes how insurance 
undertakings should apply IFRS 9 in conjunction with IFRS 4. The amendment provides for two approaches to 
applying IFRS 9:  
 

 an “overlay approach”, to be applied by insurance companies that choose to apply IFRS 9 as from 

1 January 2018; 

 

 a “deferral approach” whereby adoption of IFRS 9 is deferred. 

 
The Group qualifies to apply the deferral approach and has elected to defer application of IFRS 9.  
It will be required to publish certain additional information during the transition period, concerning the classification of 
assets and the Group’s exposure to credit risk on the assets that fulfil the criteria set out in IFRS 9 (financial assets 
that give rise to cash flows which are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding). 
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8.11.1. Fair value of financial assets by class of asset  

 

 

IFRS 9/IAS 39 do not apply to investment property which is accounted for in accordance with different standards.  

 

8.11.2. Breakdown by credit risk of debt instruments that give rise to cash flows which are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding 

  

 

None of the Group entities applied IFRS 9 as of the date of publication of the consolidated financial statements. 
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Note 9 Insurance and financial liabilities 

9.1. Contract classification 

Contracts recognised and measured in accordance with IFRS 4 include: 

 insurance contracts (see definition below) that cover a risk for the insured. Examples include personal risk 
contracts, pension contracts, property and casualty contracts and unit-linked savings contracts with a 
guaranteed element; 

 financial instruments with DPF, comprising both traditional savings contracts with DPF and unit-linked 
contracts including a traditional savings component with DPF. 

Financial instruments without DPF are recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 39. This category 
corresponds to unit-linked savings contracts that do not have any traditional savings component or guaranteed 
element.  

Contracts that do not fulfil the criteria for classification as either insurance contracts or financial instruments without 
DPF fall within the scope of: 

 IFRS 15, when they correspond to the provision of services; or 

 IAS 19, for contracts taken out in connection with benefit plans in favour of Group employees. 

9.2. Insurance contracts and financial instruments with DPF 

Insurance contracts and financial instruments with DPF are accounted for in accordance with Group accounting 
policies, as well as with the specific provisions of IFRS 4 concerning shadow accounting and liability adequacy tests. 
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether its recognised insurance liabilities net of its insurance assets 
(deferred participation asset plus other insurance-related intangible assets) are adequate, using current estimates of 
future cash flows under the insurance contracts and financial instruments with DPF. 
 
Insurance contracts 

Contracts under which the Group accepts significant insurance risk from another party (the policyholder) by agreeing 
to compensate the policyholder or another beneficiary if a specified uncertain future event (the insured event) 
adversely affects the policyholder or beneficiary are classified as insurance contracts. 

Insurance risk is a risk other than a financial risk. Financial risk is the risk of a possible future change in one or more 
variables such as a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity price, foreign exchange rate or 
other variable. In the case of a non-financial variable, if the variable is not specific to a party to the contract, the risk 
is financial; otherwise it is an insurance risk. Surrender risk, extension risk or the risk of higher-than-expected 
administrative expenses are not insurance risks, unless they are risks originally incurred by the policyholder that are 
transferred to the Group under an insurance contract. 

For each group of contracts with similar characteristics, the significance of the insurance risk is assessed based on a 
single representative contract. Under this approach, the insurance risk may be considered significant although the 
probability of the group of contracts generating a loss that has a material adverse effect on the financial statements 
is remote due to the pooling of risks. 
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Financial instruments with DPF 

Contracts that do not expose the Group to an insurance risk or for which the insurance risk is not material are 
qualified as financial instruments when they give rise to a financial asset or liability. Contracts are qualified as 
financial instruments with DPF when they incorporate a contractual or regulatory entitlement to receive, as a 
supplement to guaranteed benefits, additional benefits: 

 that are likely to be a significant portion of the total contractual benefits; 

 whose amount or timing is contractually at the Group’s discretion; and 

 that are contractually based on the performance of a specified pool of contracts or a specified type of 
contract, or realised and/or unrealised investment returns on a specified pool of assets held by the Group, or 
the profit or loss of the Company, fund or other entity that issues the contract. 

 
Hybrid contracts 

Certain contracts written by the Group comprise both an insurance component and a deposit component. These two 
components are unbundled only when the deposit component can be measured separately and, under the Group’s 
accounting policies, the rights and obligations arising from the deposit component would not be recognised if the 
contract was not unbundled. The insurance component of an unbundled contract is accounted for under IFRS 4 and 
the deposit component under IAS 39. 

In line with the policy described above, the components of traditional savings contracts written by the Group are not 
unbundled.  
 
> Life insurance and savings contracts 
 
Premiums 

Premiums on contracts in force during the period are recognised in revenue. In the case of group policies that 
include death insurance, the recognised amount is adjusted  to include the estimated earned portion of premiums not 
yet written. 
 
Technical and mathematical reserves 

Reserves for contracts with death cover include the portion of premiums written but not earned during the reporting 
period. 

Mathematical reserves for traditional savings contracts correspond to the difference between the present value of the 
respective commitments of the Group and the policyholder. 

Life premium reserves are determined using a discount rate that is equal to or less than the conservatively estimated 
forecast yield on the assets backing the liabilities.  

Insurance liabilities are discounted at a rate that is equal to or less than the contractual rate, using regulatory 
mortality tables or internal experience-based tables if these are more conservative. The discount rate applied to 
annuities takes into account the effects of a fall in interest rates when the contractual rate is considered too high 
compared with the expected yield from reinvested premiums. 
 
The general contract administration expense reserve mentioned in Article R.343-3.4 of the French Insurance Code is 
designed to cover the insurer’s commitment to administer its policies for as long as they remain in force. It is 
determined by the method and using the assumptions specified in Article 142-6 of regulation ANC 2015-11. 
The reserve corresponds to a prospective estimate of contract administration expenses that will not be covered by 
the premium and investment income loading. It is calculated by group of contracts with similar characteristics, based 
mainly on policyholder profiles, contract terms and experience-based assumptions concerning, for example, costs, 
surrenders and investment income. The estimation process includes a financial assessment of the options affecting 
administration expenses for certain contracts. 
At 31 December 2019, the general administration expense reserve for savings and pensions contracts amounted to 
€267 million. 
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When policyholders are entitled to participate in surplus underwriting profits and investment income in addition to the 
guaranteed minimum yield, any surplus not paid during the period is accumulated in the policyholder surplus 
reserves. 

This reserve also includes the deferred policyholders’ participation resulting from the use of shadow accounting.  

An outstanding claims reserve is set up to cover claims and benefits outstanding at the reporting date. 

Mathematical reserves for unit-linked contracts are determined by reference to the assets backing the linked 
liabilities. Gains and losses arising from the remeasurement of these assets at fair value are recognised in profit or 
loss, to offset the impact of changes in the related technical reserves. 

Reserves for guaranteed yields are determined using the Black-Scholes method. 
 
> Disability, accident and health insurance 

Premiums are recognised net of taxes and estimated cancelled premiums. 

Earned premiums for the period are adjusted for: 

 estimated earned premiums not yet written at the period-end; 

 the change in the unearned premium reserve (corresponding to the portion of premiums written during the 
period that relates to the next period). 

A reserve is recorded to cover timing differences between the coverage of risks and their financing in the form of 
insurance premiums. 

The escalating risks reserve for term creditor insurance business amounted to €235 million at 31 December 2019. 
This reserve is calculated prospectively and covers the difference between the present values of the respective 
future commitments of the insurer and the insured. The calculation uses regulatory valuation rates of interest and 
takes into account experience-based biometric risk assumptions (incidence of death and disability risk, and/or 
disability persistency risk) and behavioural assumptions (surrenders) based on historical data for the portfolio 
concerned. 

The escalating risk reserve for lifetime long-term care contracts totalled €402 million at 31 December 2019. This 
reserve also covers the difference between the present values of the respective future commitments of the insurer 
and the insured. The calculation takes into account experience-based biometric risk assumptions (incidence of long-
term care risk and persistency risk) based on historical data for the portfolio concerned, regulatory mortality tables 
and a discount rate determined by reference to the structure of the asset portfolio held to cover these commitments. 

Claims are recognised in the period in which they are incurred. The amount recorded covers both reported claims 
and estimated claims incurred but not reported (IBNR). 

Claims reserves are based on the estimated cost of settling the claims, net of any forecast recoveries. 

A deferred participation reserve is recorded for participating contracts, based on shadow accounting principles. 

A reserve is also recorded for claims handling expenses. 
 
> Liability adequacy test 

At each period end, the Group assesses whether its recognised insurance liabilities, net of its insurance assets 
(deferred participation asset, deferred acquisition costs and insurance-related intangible assets), are adequate, 
based on current estimates of future cash flows under its insurance contracts and financial instruments with DPF. 
The test is performed using asset-liability management models, by applying a stochastic approach to estimate 
liabilities according to a wide range of scenarios. The models take into account embedded derivatives (policyholder 
surrender options, guaranteed yields, etc.) and administrative expenses. The test determines the economic value of 
insurance liabilities corresponding to the average of the stochastic trajectories. Similar-type contracts are grouped 
together when performing the test and the results are analysed at entity level: if the sum of the surrender value and 
deferred participation (asset or liability), less related deferred acquisition costs and related intangible assets, is less 
than the fair value of the recognised insurance liability, the shortfall is recognised in profit or loss.  
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> Shadow accounting 

Shadow accounting procedures are designed to address the risk of an artificial imbalance between assets and 
liabilities valued using different valuation models. When the measurement of liabilities, deferred acquisition costs or 
the value of In-Force business is directly affected by realised gains and losses on assets, a deferred participation 
reserve is recorded in insurance liabilities to offset the unrealised gains or losses in financial assets. Deferred 
participation is accounted for in the same way as the underlying, i.e., by adjusting either profit or the revaluation 
reserve. 
 

The deferred participation reserve is determined by multiplying fair value adjustments to assets by the estimated 
participation rate corresponding to the contractual obligations associated with each portfolio. The estimated 
participation rate takes into account regulatory and contractual participation clauses, as well as the Group’s 
profit-taking programme and policyholder bonus policy. Participation rates applied to unrealised gains and losses for 
shadow accounting purposes are the same as the rates applied to consolidation adjustments for the purpose of 
determining deferred participation.  

The portion of gains or losses attributable to policyholders is determined based on the terms of participating 
contracts. Shadow accounting is not applied to non-participating contracts that fall outside the scope of regulations 
requiring payment of a guaranteed minimum participating dividend. 

The amount of deferred participation calculated for each entity under shadow accounting principles is recognised 
either in liabilities as a deferred participation reserve or in assets as a deferred participation asset. 
 
> Testing deferred participation assets for recoverability 

Deferred participation assets are tested for recoverability to ensure that the amount calculated based on the 
participation rates estimated as described previously and in accordance with the going concern principle, is 
recoverable out of future actual or unrealised profits and will not result in liability inadequacy vis-à-vis the Group’s 
economic obligations. Recoverability testing uses the same methods as liability adequacy testing described above 
and testing is performed at the level of each group of contracts in order to factor portfolio segregation arrangements 
into the assessment.  

Pursuant to the recommendation of the French National Accounting Board (Conseil National de la Comptabilité– 
CNC) of 19 December 2008 concerning the recognition of deferred participation assets in the consolidated accounts 
of insurance companies, the recoverability of these amounts is enhanced by the Group’s conservative assessment of 
its ability to continue to hold its assets. In particular, no future retained fund flows have been taken into account. 
Moreover, the Group has demonstrated the recoverability of the deferred participation assets using unprecedented 
surrender rates. 
 
> Reinsurance 
 
Outward reinsurance 

Premiums, claims and technical reserves are stated before reinsurance. Ceded amounts are recognised under the 
“Reinsurance result” line item of the income statement. 

Ceded technical reserves are tested for impairment at each reporting date. If there is objective evidence that these 
reserves are impaired, as a result of an event that occurred after initial recognition, the carrying amount of the asset 
is reduced by recording an impairment loss in the income statement. For reinsurance assets secured by collateral, 
the estimated discounted cash flows from the asset take into account cash flows from the sale of the collateral, net of 
the estimated cost of obtaining execution of the guarantee, regardless of whether or not such sale is considered 
probable. 
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Inward reinsurance 

Inward reinsurance contracts give rise to a significant insurance risk and are therefore accounted for in the same 
way as insurance contracts. 

9.3. Financial instruments without DPF (IAS 39) 

Financial instruments without DPF are initially recorded at fair value. Loading on premiums is recognised in 
“Revenue from other activities”. 

Unit-linked contracts are subsequently measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. 

Traditional savings investment contracts are subsequently measured at fair value, corresponding to their surrender 
value. 

9.4. Deferred participation asset/reserve 

The adjustments made in application of IFRS 4 lead to the recognition of deferred policyholders’ participation in 
assets or liabilities.  

There are two types of deferred participation: 

9.4.1. Unconditional participation 

All differences in the calculation base of future rights between the separate financial statements and the consolidated 
financial statements are recognised in the deferred participation reserve. 

This applies in particular to policyholder rights in positive and negative fair value adjustments and restatements of 
the separate financial statements of Group entities. Their amount is adjusted using a method that is consistent with 
the initial measurement and the pattern of recognition in profit or loss of fair value adjustments and restatements. 

9.4.2. Conditional participation 

This corresponds to the difference in rights between the separate and consolidated financial statements, whose 
payment depends on a management decision or the occurrence of an event. 

These rights are recognised only when the event or management decision is highly probable. Conditional 
participation also arises from the application of the shadow accounting technique described in Note 9.2. 
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9.5. Analysis of insurance and financial liabilities 

 
The following tables show the sub-classifications of insurance liabilities that require separate disclosure under IFRS: 

9.5.1. Analysis of insurance and financial liabilities at 31 December 2019 

 

 
  



Consolidated financial statements – 31 December 2019 

 

 

 

76 

 

9.5.2. Analysis of insurance and financial liabilities at 31 December 2018 
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9.6. Change in technical reserves 

This note presents changes in technical reserves by category, such as those arising from changes in the 
assumptions applied to measure insurance liabilities. Each change with a material impact on the consolidated 
financial statements is shown separately. Movements are presented before and after reinsurance. 

9.6.1. Changes in mathematical reserves – life insurance 

9.6.1.1. Changes in mathematical reserves – life insurance – at 31 December 2019 

 
 

9.6.1.2. Changes in mathematical reserves – life insurance – at 31 December 2018 
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9.6.2. Changes in technical reserves – non-life insurance 

9.6.2.1. Changes in technical reserves – non-life insurance – at 31 December 2019 

 

 
 
 
 

9.6.2.2. Changes in technical reserves – non-life insurance – at 31 December 2018 
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9.6.3. Changes in mathematical reserves – financial instruments with DPF 
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9.7. Deferred participation (shadow accounting adjustments) 

This note breaks down the sources of deferred participation arising from the use of shadow accounting. The amount 
of deferred participation calculated for each entity under shadow accounting principles is recognised either in 
liabilities as a deferred participation reserve, or in assets as a deferred participation asset (see Note 9.2). 
 
 

 
 
The following table analyses year-on-year changes: 
 

 
 

  



Consolidated financial statements – 31 December 2019 

 

 

 

81 

 

9.8. Changes in financial liabilities – linked liabilities 

9.8.1. Changes in 2019 

 

  

* Refer to reconciliation table in Note 9.8.3  

 

9.8.2. Changes in 2018 

 

 

 
* Refer to reconciliation table in Note 9.8.3 
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9.8.3. Balance sheet reconciliation 

 

 

9.9. Credit risk on reinsured business 

The purpose of this note is to provide an analysis of credit risk related to outward reinsurance contracts by reinsurer: 

a) Excess-of-loss contracts have been placed with reinsurers who are rated between BBB+ and AA+. 

b) For quota-share treaties where the asset is not held by CNP Assurances, the breakdown of ceded 
insurance liabilities by reinsurer is as follows: 

9.9.1. Credit risk on reinsured business at 31 December 2019 

 

  

9.9.2. Credit risk on reinsured business at 31 December 2018 

 

  
The credit ratings of the reinsurers were reclassified from AA- to A+ for €1,423.9 million and from “Without rating” to 
A for €721.1 million. 
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Note 10 Subordinated debt 

10.1. Subordinated debt at 31 December 2019 

 

* The fair value of financial liabilities (IAS 39) is disclosed in accordance with IFRS 7. If subordinated debt had been measured at fair 
value through profit or loss instead of at amortised cost, the impact would have been €301.0 million before tax at 31 December 2019.  

The fair values of linked liabilities are presented in Note 9.8. The fair values of financial instruments without DPF (Note 9.5) are not 
presented as the amounts involved are not material. IFRS 7 includes certain exemptions from the requirement to disclose the fair values 
of financial instruments with DPF. The Group considers that it fulfils the exemption criteria, particularly in light of the work under way in 
connection with IFRS 17 regarding the fair value of these instruments. 

None of the Group’s subordinated debt issues are subject to financial covenants.  

The Group has contracted two cash flow hedges on sterling-denominated subordinated notes issued in 2011 and on 
US dollar-denominated subordinated notes issued in 2016. 
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10.2. Subordinated debt at 31 December 2018 

 

 

* The fair value of financial liabilities (IAS 39) is disclosed in accordance with IFRS 7. If subordinated debt had been measured at fair 
value through profit or loss instead of at amortised cost, the impact would have been €472.1 million before tax at 31 December 2018.  

The fair values of linked liabilities are presented in Note 9.8. The fair values of financial instruments without DPF (Note 9.5) are not 
presented as the amounts involved are not material. IFRS 7 includes certain exemptions from the requirement to disclose the fair values 
of financial instruments with DPF. The Group considers that it fulfils the exemption criteria, particularly in light of the work under way in 
connection with IFRS 17 regarding the fair value of these instruments. 

None of the Group’s subordinated debt issues are subject to financial covenants. 

The Group has contracted three cash flow hedges, on sterling-denominated subordinated notes issued in 2011 and 
on US dollar-denominated subordinated notes issued in 2013 and 2016. 
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Note 11 Insurance and reinsurance receivables 

11.1. Insurance and reinsurance receivables 

 
This note discloses details of insurance and reinsurance receivables at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018. 
 

 
 
Analysis by maturity 
 

 
 

 
 

11.2. Other receivables 
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Note 12 Provisions for liabilities and charges 
Provisions cover commercial, employee-related and tax risks resulting in obligations that will most likely give rise to 
an outflow of resources, the amount of which may be reliably determined. 

12.1. Provisions for liabilities and charges – 2019 
 

 

12.2. Provisions for liabilities and charges – 2018 
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Note 13 Liabilities arising from insurance and reinsurance 
transactions 

13.1. Liabilities arising from insurance and reinsurance transactions 

This note discloses details of insurance and reinsurance liabilities at 31 December 2019 and at 31 December 2018. 

 
 
ANALYSIS BY MATURITY 
 

 
 

13.2. Miscellaneous payables 
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13.3. Employee benefits – IAS 19 

 
Employee benefit obligations are recognised in full in the balance sheet in accordance with IAS 19, except for share 
grants which are recognised and measured in accordance with IFRS 2. 
 
Short-term benefits are benefits that are expected to be settled in full within twelve months of the end of the annual 
reporting period in which the employees render the related services. They therefore consist mainly of wages, social 
security contributions, profit-sharing and bonuses, paid annual leave and non-monetary benefits (such as medical 
care, housing, cars and free or subsidised goods or services). 

13.3.1. Employee benefit plans 

 
Time-savings accounts and employee retirement savings plans  
 
A time-savings account system has been set up for CNP Assurances’ employees, entitling them to save up their 
rights to paid leave or to monetise these rights immediately or at a future date. 
 
Internal agreements stipulate that rights accumulated in the time-savings account may be credited to a PERCO 
employee retirement savings plan and qualify for a matching employer contribution. 
 
In addition, employees whose working time is calculated based on a number of hours worked per week, month or 
year may have built up a “time credit”. This credit is used in the form of paid time off.   
 
Post-employment benefits 
 
Post-employment benefits include: 

(a) Pension plans;  
(b) Other post-employment benefits.  

They are classified as defined contribution or defined benefit plans based on their main terms. 
 
Defined benefit pension plan  

The annuity and financial risks arising from the retirement of plan participants are covered by an insurance policy.  

Obligations under defined benefit plans and the related costs are measured by the projected unit credit method.  The 
amount recognised in the balance sheet for pension obligations corresponds to the difference between the projected 
benefit obligation and the fair value of the plan assets. 

The actuarial assumptions used to measure defined benefit obligations vary depending on economic conditions in 
the country in which the plan has been set up. 
 
Pension plans in the international entities 

Several defined contribution plans and a limited number of defined benefit plans have been set up throughout the 
different Group entities. The related obligations are non-material from a Group perspective. 
 
Length-of-service awards payable to employees on retirement and jubilees 

Obligations for the payment of length-of-service awards and jubilees are measured by the projected unit credit 
method and recognised as a liability. 
 
Discount rate 

The discount rate corresponds to the yield on investment grade corporate bonds that are traded in an active market 
(or the government bond rate if no active market exists) with maturities that match the duration of the benefit 
obligation. 
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Accounting treatment 

Assets of funded plans are segregated and managed separately from the Group’s assets, and any funding surplus or 
deficit is recognised in the balance sheet. 

Liabilities under unfunded plans are recognised in the balance sheet. 

The Group recognises gains and losses on post-employment defined benefit plans directly in equity. Actuarial gains 
and losses on other long-term benefits are recognised directly in profit or loss.  

Actuarial losses recognised in current profit for defined benefit plans comprise two elements: 

 current service cost and past service cost; 

 interest cost (reflecting the unwinding of any discounting to present value) less the expected return on plan 
assets. 

13.3.2. Share-based payment 

 
Accounting treatment of employee share grants 

The shares held for allocation when the share grants vest are recorded as a deduction from equity. The difference 
between the average cost of the shares and their fair value at the grant date is recognised in equity, with no impact 
on profit or loss. The cost of the employee services received in exchange for the grants is measured by reference to 
the fair value of the shares, in accordance with IFRS 2, and is recognised in employee benefits expense over the 
vesting period, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. The cost recognised in profit or loss takes into account the 
estimated number of grantees at each reporting date and the cost of managing the shares. 

13.3.3. Main assumptions 

 
Discount rate 

The discount rate corresponds to the yield on investment-grade corporate bonds (rated AA) with maturities that 
match the duration of the benefit obligation in accordance with IAS 19. Defined benefit plan obligations in France 
were discounted to present value based on the French government bond (OAT) rate. This change did not have a 
material impact on the measurement of obligations. 
 

 
 
The short-term measure introduced by the French government to help employees ease into retirement was 
applicable until 30 November 2019 – see GPEC agreement. 
Eligible employees are given the opportunity to take part of the 12 or 24 months preceding their retirement date 
(depending on the chosen option) as paid leave, in exchange for a reduction in their salary for the period to 80%, as 
follows: 

 Full-time working during the first six or twelve months, depending on the chosen option 

 Paid leave during the next six or twelve months, depending on the chosen option. 
 
Mortality tables 

The Group based its calculations on prospective mortality tables by generation, particularly table TGH05-TGF05 for 
obligations in France. 
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13.3.4. Recognised benefit obligations 

 

 
* Benefit obligations are mainly carried in the books of the French and Italian entities (€302.0 million and €1.3 million, respectively) 

 

13.3.5. Analysis of long-term benefit costs 
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13.3.6. Reconciliation of the amounts recorded in the balance sheet for defined benefit 
plans 

 

 

 

(1)  Net plan assets/(liabilities) carried in the balance sheet at 1 January for defined benefit plans 
(2) Defined benefit plan (costs)/income  
(3) Management fees paid on plan assets 
(4) Fees paid by the Group (or rebilled by Caisse des Dépôts) 
(5) Actuarial gains and losses recognised immediately in equity  

13.3.7. Change in actuarial gains 

 

 

13.3.8. Sensitivity analysis 

 
In accordance with IAS 19, the Group analyses the sensitivity of its employee benefit obligations in relation to 
changes in discount rates, employee turnover rates, rate of salary increases, valuation rates of interest and mortality 
tables. Employee benefit obligations are most sensitive to a change in the discount rate: A 25-bp change in this rate, 
for the French entities, would result in a 2% increase or decrease in employee benefit obligations. 
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ANALYSIS OF THE MAIN COMPONENTS 
OF THE INCOME STATEMENT 

Note 14 Premium income 

Premium income comprises: 

 earned premiums; 

 loading on premiums on financial instruments without DPF (IAS 39), reported under "Revenue from other 
activities". 

 

Service contracts 
Contracts that do not expose the Group to an insurance risk or for which the insurance risk is not material are 
qualified as service contracts when they do not give rise to any financial asset or liability. In accordance with 
IFRS 15, revenue from the rendering of services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the 
transaction at the reporting date, provided that the transaction’s outcome can be estimated reliably. 
 

14.1. Earned premiums and revenue from other activities 
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14.2. Reconciliation to reported premium income  
 

 

14.3. Premium income by partner 

 

 
 

14.4. Premium income by business segment 
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14.5. Premium income by company 
 

 
 

14.6. Premium income by country 
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14.7. Direct and inward reinsurance premiums 
 

 
  

14.8. Reconciliation of net new money (French GAAP) to premium income (IFRS) 

 

 
 
French GAAP net new money includes the total deposit component of financial instruments without DPF (IAS 39) 
while IFRS premium income includes only the premium loading on these instruments. The Group’s performance and 
new business for the period is measured using a French GAAP indicator that does not make any distinction between 
the different types of contract and their respective measurement methods under IFRS based on their separate 
components.  
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Note 15 Claims and benefits expenses 
 
This note shows assets, liabilities, income and expenses generated by insurance contracts. 
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Note 16 Administrative expenses and business acquisition 
costs 

 
Acquisition costs and operating expenses 
Underwriting expenses are presented by function: 

 claim and benefit handling expenses include the costs of the departments responsible for paying claims, 
endowments and periodic benefits and processing surrenders; 

 acquisition costs include all selling, distribution and administrative expenses incurred for the acquisition of 
new contracts; 

 contract administration expenses include all the costs of managing In-Force business; 

 investment management costs include all internal and external costs of managing asset portfolios and 
financial expenses; 

 other underwriting costs correspond to overhead expenses that cannot be allocated rationally to the other 
functions; 

 non-underwriting costs correspond to costs related to businesses that have no technical link to the insurance 
business.  

 
Cost recognition and allocation: 

 operating expenses are initially recognised by nature and are then reallocated by function; 

 costs recognised by nature that relate to a single function are posted to the function concerned without 
applying any allocation key. 

Other costs are analysed between: 

 corporate costs, which are allocated to the operating centres using statistical cost allocation keys or actual 
business data; 

 operating costs, as adjusted to include corporate costs, which are allocated to the functions using a specific 
allocation key for each business. 

16.1. Expenses analysed by function 
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16.2. Expenses analysed by nature 
 

 
* Details of fees paid to the Statutory Auditors are presented in Note 16.5 
 

As these tables only include line item disclosures required under IAS 1, total expenses analysed by nature do not tie 
back to total expenses analysed by function. 
 

 

16.3. Administrative expenses, net 
 

 
 

 

16.4. Analysis of commission expense 
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16.5. Fees paid to the Statutory Auditors 
 
31.12.2019 

 
(1) “Other duties and services directly related to the assignment carried out by the Statutory Auditors” include services relating to the issue 
of debt securities, review of MCEV© calculations, review of Solvency II disclosures, review of the English translation of the Registration 
Document and other reports, and review of the Non-Financial Information Statement 
(2) Excluding recoverable taxes 
 

31.12.2018 

 
(1) “Other audit and special engagements” mainly concern the issue of subordinated notes, the review of MCEV©, the review of the English 
translation of the Registration Document, the review of sustainable development indicators and the review of internal control processes 
linked to the processing of unclaimed life insurance settlements 
(2) Excluding recoverable taxes 
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Note 17 Reinsurance result 
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Note 18 Investment income 

18.1. Investment income and expense 

 
This note discloses the main income, expenses, profits and losses generated by financial assets and liabilities that 
have been recognised in profit or loss or directly in equity for 2019 and 2018. 
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Reconciliation of investment income and expenses to the amounts reported in the income statement 
 

 

 

18.2. Fair value adjustments to assets 
 

The following tables show fair value adjustments to assets in 2019 and 2018. 
 

18.2.1. Fair value adjustments to assets – 2019 
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18.2.2. Fair value adjustments to assets – 2018 
 

 
 

18.2.3. Reconciliation of fair value adjustments to the amounts reported in the 
“Investments” note 
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18.3. Impairment 

This note discloses the nature and amount of impairment losses on financial assets recognised in profit or loss, by 
significant category of financial assets. 
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Note 19 Income tax expense 
French tax group 
 
CNP Assurances and its main French subsidiaries have elected to file a consolidated tax return under French group 
relief rules. The main companies in the tax group are CNP Assurances and its subsidiaries CNP Caution, CICOGE 
SA (a property investment company), Âge d’Or Expansion, SAS THEEMIM, AEP 3, AEP 4, Assur‑ immeuble, 
Pyramides 2, Ecureuil Vie Investment, 270 Investment, US Real Estate EVJ, US Real Estate 270, Pial 34, Passage 
du Faidherbe, Alleray, Yellowalto, FPIP, Lyfe, Sogestop K, Foncière HID, Pierre et Surene, 23-25 Marignan, 36 
Marbeuf, 46 Kleber, 46 Kleber Holding, Infra Invest France, Neuilly Pilot, 41 rue Ybry Holding, Ybry Pont Neuilly, 
Geosud, Friedensallee, Montparvie IV, Montparvie V, QIS Group, QIS France and Youse Home. 

 

  
Current and deferred taxes 

Income tax expense reported in the income statement includes both current and deferred taxes. 

Deferred taxes are recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities and 
their tax base. In accordance with IAS 12, a deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences 
between the carrying amount and tax base of investments in subsidiaries, associates and branches and interests in 
joint arrangements, except where the following conditions are met:  

(a) CNP Assurances, as the parent, investor, joint operator is able to control the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary difference; and 

 (b) it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset at the level of each taxable entity or tax group. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities arising from changes in asset values and from the recognition of deferred participation are calculated and 
tracked separately.  

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward when it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will 
be available to permit their realisation within five years. Net deferred tax assets resulting from the offsetting of 
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised when sufficient taxable profit can be expected to be generated to 
permit their realisation. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted. 

The following table discloses the main components of income tax expense. 
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(1) The 24 January 2019 Act maintained the corporate tax rate payable by “major corporations” on 2019 profits at 33.33%. Including the 
current additional contribution of 3.3%, the theoretical tax rate for 2019 is therefore 34.43% 
Going forward, under the 2020 Finance Act, the cuts in the corporate tax rate payable by companies with revenues in excess of €250 
million will be implemented more slowly than originally planned, to 31% in 2020 (32.02% including the 3.3% contribution), 27.5% in 2021 
(28.41% including the 3.3% contribution) and 25% in 2022 (25.82% including the 3.3% contribution).  

 
(2) The increase in permanent differences is mainly due to the reclassification in 2019 of certain items treated as permanent differences 
in 2018. 
 
(3) Application of the equity method to account for HIG had a positive effect on income tax expense, with: 
i) on the one hand, revenue that had already been taxed and was therefore recognised on a net-of-tax basis; and 
ii) on the other hand, tax-deductible policyholder rights generated by this revenue, recorded on a before-tax basis 
 
(4) This item is affected by:  
i) Differences between the statutory tax rate in France and the tax rates applicable to foreign subsidiaries. The tax rate in Brazil was 
reduced from 45% in 2018 to 40% in 2019. 
ii) Changes in statutory tax rates. The effects of the changes in the French tax rate introduced in successive Finance Acts are taken into 
account in the consolidated financial statements and are therefore also included under this caption. 

 
 

  
 
This table presents total deferred tax assets and liabilities by type of temporary difference. 
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Note 20 Segment information 
 
In accordance with IFRS 8, the Group’s reportable business segments are based on the internal reporting system 
approved by the Group’s Executive Committee, regarded as the chief operating decision maker as defined by 
IFRS 8.  
The choice of geographical segmentation is based on a multi-criteria organisation linked to the Group’s strategic 
priorities (geography, activities, networks) and the allocation of goodwill to mainly geographical cash-generating 
units. It has been adopted in order to present geographic segments as the Group’s operating segments based on the 
definitions in IFRS 8 paragraphs 8.8 and 8.10.  
 

The three geographic segments are: 

 France 

 Latin America 

 Europe excluding France 
 

The Group’s internal reporting system is based on the following indicators: 

 premium income and revenue from other activities: earned premiums and revenue from other activities, 
including non-controlling interests and ceded premiums. Premium income and revenue from other activities 
is an indicator of underwriting volume; 

 total revenue: net insurance revenue plus revenue from own fund portfolios, including non-controlling 
interests but net of ceded premiums. It is the margin before deducting administrative expenses; 

 net insurance revenue: sum of insurance loading, underwriting results and reinsurance results, net of 
commission paid to distribution partners, including non-controlling interests but net of ceded premiums. It is 
the margin generated by the insurance business before deducting administrative expenses; 

 administrative costs: costs of administering and managing insurance contracts, excluding commissions paid 
to the distribution networks. This indicator includes non-controlling interests. 

 earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT): attributable net profit before finance costs, income tax expense, 
non-controlling and equity-accounted interests, fair 
 
value adjustments and net gains (losses), non-recurring items. This indicator includes non-controlling 
interests and is gross of income tax expense. It is the margin generated by the insurance business after 
deducting administrative expenses. 

 underlying attributable profit: attributable net profit before income tax expense, non-recurring items, fair value 
adjustments and net gains (losses). This indicator is calculated net of non-controlling interests and is gross 
of income tax expense.  It is the margin after finance costs and non-controlling and equity-accounted 
interests. 
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20.1. Income statement by business segment at 31 December 2019 

 

   
* A reconciliation of earned premiums to premium income is presented in Note 14 

 
 
 
Reconciliation of EBIT to operating profit  
 

   
 
 
Reconciliation of desensitised income tax expense to reported income tax expense 
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Reconciliation of desensitised non-controlling interests to reported non-controlling interests 

 

 
 

20.2. Income statement by business segment at 31 December 2018 

 

 
(1) A reconciliation of earned premiums to premium income is presented in Note 14 

 
 
Reconciliation of EBIT to operating profit 
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Reconciliation of desensitised income tax expense to reported income tax expense 
 

 
 
Reconciliation of desensitised non-controlling interests to reported non-controlling interests 
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OTHER ANALYSES 

Note 21 Application of IAS 29 
 
Argentina has been qualified as a hyperinflationary economy since 1 July 2018. 
As a result, IAS 29 – Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies requires the financial statements of entities 
whose functional currency is the Argentine peso to be restated.   
CNP Assurances has two subsidiaries in Argentina, CNP Assurances Compania de seguros et CNP SA de 
capitalizacion, whose functional currency is the Argentine peso.   
The analysis of the impacts related to the application of this standard enables the Group to ensure that its accounting 
policies do not need to be modified. 

 

Note 22 Contingent liabilities 
A contingent liability is: 

 a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the 
Group; or 

 a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because it is not probable that an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of 
the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.  

 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet but are disclosed in the notes to the financial 
statements, except when it is not probable that they will give rise to an outflow of resources. Contingent liabilities are 
regularly reviewed to determine whether an outflow of resources has become probable or can be measured with 
sufficient reliability. 
If this is the case, a provision is recognised in the financial statements for the period in which the change in 
probability or measurability occurs.  

 

Note 23 Related party information 
Two parties are related if one controls or exercises significant influence over the policy decisions of the other, or if 
both parties are subject to significant influence from the same third-party entity or person. 

Related parties are determined based on their relationship with CNP Assurances, the parent company of the Group, 
and mainly consist of its shareholders and entities controlled by these shareholders or by CNP Assurances 
(including the entities accounted for using the equity method) and members of senior management (see Note 23.5). 
Transactions and outstanding amounts between the parent company and its fully-consolidated subsidiaries are 
eliminated in full and do not appear in the consolidated financial statements. 
For information, CNP Assurances received a total of €421.2 million in dividends from subsidiaries during the period, 
comprising €181.1 million from its French subsidiaries, €177.8 million from its Brazilian subsidiaries, €38.2 million 
from CNP Santander Insurance Life Ltd and €15.0 million from CNP Cyprus Insurance Holdings. 

The list of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures is provided in Note 4. 
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23.1. Transactions with shareholders and their subsidiaries 
 

 

 
 
Based on the IAS 24 definition, the Group’s shareholders (Caisse des Dépôts, BPCE and La Banque Postale), their 
subsidiaries and joint ventures and the companies over which they exercise significant influence are all related 
parties. 
 
Commissions correspond to revenue received by BPCE and La Banque Postale on the sale of products managed by 
CNP Assurances. 
 
Claims and employee benefits mainly concern various expenses rebilled by Caisse des Dépôts to CNP Assurances 
and the costs of managing service contracts reinvoiced to La Banque Postale Prévoyance in accordance with IFRS 
15. 
 
2018 dividends paid to the Group’s shareholders in 2019 amounted to €610.8 million, comprising amounts of 
€249.7 million, €110.6 million and €111.0 million paid to Caisse des Dépôts, BPCE and La Banque Postale, 
respectively. 
 

23.2. Transactions with equity-accounted entities 
 
The insurance undertakings accounted for using the equity method are Arial CNP Assurances, Assuristance, 
Filassistance International and Wiz Soluçoes e Corretagem de Seguros SA. 
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23.3. Transactions with associates 
 
The Group received €62.52 million in dividends from the Coentreprise de Transport d’Electricité (CTE) joint venture, 
which is accounted for as an associate. 

 

23.4. Terms and conditions of guarantees given and received 
 
Guarantees given to related and equity-accounted companies mainly concern reinsurance transactions (cash 
deposits) and pledges: 
 
- Arial CNP Assurances 

 Cash deposits received: €2,840.0 million 
 Pledges given: €3,975.5 million 

 
- BPCE  

 Cash deposits paid: €11,677.1 million 
 Cash deposits received: €47.7 million 
 Pledges given: €4,440.7 million 

 
- LBP: 

 Pledges received: €124.7 million 
 Pledges given: €4.9 million 

 

23.5. Management remuneration 
 
The total remuneration paid to the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, the Deputy Chief Executive Officers and 
the members of the Board of Directors is presented below, together with details of their remuneration by category. 

In 2019 

- Short-term benefits: the short-term benefits (including salaries, bonuses, directors’ fees and benefits in kind) paid 
to the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, the two Deputy Chief Executive Officers and the members of the 
Board of Directors amounted to €2,380,095.69.  

- Long-term benefits: the cumulative amounts provided for or recognised in respect of pension or other retirement 
benefits for the Chief Executive Officer (corresponding to the vested rights of the current Chief Executive Officer 
during his period as an employee prior to his appointment as Chief Executive Officer) and the two Deputy Chief 
Executive Officers totalled €10,924,548. No amounts were provided for or recognised in respect of pension or 
other retirement benefits for the Chairman or the Chief Executive Officer because the Group had no payment 
obligations towards them in this regard. 

- Termination benefits: the termination benefits payable to the members of senior management are provided for in 
their employment contracts or in the collective agreement. The cumulative amounts provided for or recognised in 
respect of termination benefits for the Chief Executive Officer (corresponding to the vested rights of the current 
Chief Executive Officer during his period as an employee prior to his appointment as Chief Executive Officer) and 
the two Deputy Chief Executive Officers totalled €1,377,171. No amounts were provided for or recognised in 
respect of termination benefits for the Chairman or the Chief Executive Officer because the Group had no 
payment obligations towards them in this regard. 

- Share-based payment: no share-based payments were made in 2019 to the Chief Executive Officer, the Deputy 
Chief Executive Officers or the members of the Board of Directors. 

In 2018 

- Short-term benefits: the short-term benefits (including salaries, bonuses, directors’ fees and benefits in kind) paid 
to the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, the three Deputy Chief Executive Officers and the members of the 
Board of Directors amounted to €2,713,426.98.  

- Long-term benefits: the cumulative amounts provided for or recognised in respect of pension or other retirement 
benefits for the Chief Executive Officer (corresponding to the vested rights of the current Chief Executive Officer 
during his period as an employee prior to his appointment as Chief Executive Officer) and the two Deputy Chief 
Executive Officers totalled €10,391,036. No amounts were provided for or recognised in respect of pension or 



Consolidated financial statements – 31 December 2019 

 

 

 

116 

 

other retirement benefits for the Chairman or the Chief Executive Officer because the Group had no payment 
obligations towards them in this regard. 

- Termination benefits: the termination benefits payable to the members of senior management are provided for in 
their employment contracts or in the collective agreement. The cumulative amounts provided for or recognised in 
respect of termination benefits for the Chief Executive Officer (corresponding to the vested rights of the current 
Chief Executive Officer during his period as an employee prior to his appointment as Chief Executive Officer and 
the two Deputy Chief Executive Officers totalled €1,402,662. No amounts were provided for or recognised in 
respect of termination benefits for the Chairman or the Chief Executive Officer because the Group had no 
payment obligations towards them in this regard. 

- Share-based payment: no share-based payments were made in 2018 to the Chief Executive Officer, the Deputy 
Chief Executive Officers or the members of the Board of Directors. 
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Note 24 Financial risks 
24.1. Credit risk 

 
The Group’s credit risk policies are presented in section 5 of this Registration Document on Corporate Governance 
and Internal Control. 

Note 8.8 to the consolidated financial statements analyses the Group's bond portfolio by issuer rating. 

24.2. Currency risk 

 
Most portfolios covering insured liabilities are invested in assets denominated in the insurance company’s functional 
currency. As a result, portfolio exposure to currency risks is limited (e.g., net-of-hedging exposure to a currency other 
than the euro represents less than 5% of the investments of French companies of the CNP Assurances Group). 
 
In addition, the Group performs currency stress tests to assess the impact on profit and equity of a 10% increase in 
the euro-dollar and euro-sterling exchange rates as it is marginally exposed on monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in dollars or sterling. The cumulative estimated impact for the US dollar and the pound sterling 
represents less than 2% of recurring operating profit. 
The impact of the euro’s appreciation against the dollar and sterling is analysed at half-yearly intervals and 
commented on when the amounts involved are material.   
 
The Group is also exposed to currency risk on its operations in Brazil and on the translation of the financial 
statements of its local subsidiaries. 
Simulations are performed of the impact of a 20% decline in the Real exchange rate. In the absence of hedging, this 
scenario would have a negative impact of less than 5% on profit attributable to owners of the parent. The hedging 
policy consists of purchasing currency options as protection against the risk of a fall in the Brazilian currency. The 
impact of a 20% decline in the Real exchange rate after hedging would be less than 2% of profit attributable to 
owners of the parent. 
Lastly, exchange differences on translating the financial statements of the Brazilian subsidiaries may have an impact 
on equity. 
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24.3. Interest rate risk on financial assets 

 
This note provides additional information about the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk on financial assets and 
liabilities, by category. 

24.3.1. Caps and floors 

 
The following tables show the nominal amount of caps and floors by strike price and remaining term at 
31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018. 

24.3.1.1. Caps and floors at 31 December 2019 

 
 

 

24.3.1.2. Caps and floors at 31 December 2018 

 

 

24.3.2. Effective interest rates 

 

This note shows effective interest rates on fixed-rate bonds and zero coupon bonds at the purchase date and at the 
end of the reporting period. 

Effective interest rates are presented for the Group’s main insurance subsidiaries: 

 France; 

 Italy; 

 Brazil; 

 Spain. 
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24.3.2.1. Effective interest rates at purchase 

 

  
 

24.3.2.2. Effective interest rates at balance sheet date 

 

  

24.3.3. Carrying amounts by maturity 

24.3.3.1. Carrying amounts by maturity at 31 December 2019 

 

  

 

24.3.3.2. Carrying amounts by maturity at 31 December 2018 
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24.3.4. Carrying amounts by maturity – held-to-maturity investments 

24.3.4.1. Carrying amount at 31 December 2019 

 

 

 

24.3.4.2. Carrying amount at 31 December 2018 

 

 
 

24.3.5. Average life of securities 

 
The following tables show the average remaining life of securities, weighted by carrying amount, in years. 

24.3.5.1. Average life of securities – 31 December 2019 

 

 

 
  

24.3.5.2. Average life of securities – 31 December 2018 

 

 
 

24.4. Sensitivity of MCEV© to market risks 

 

Sensitivity analyses are performed to efficiently identify and manage earnings and equity volatility. One of the key 

analyses used by management concerns the sensitivity of Market Consistent Embedded Value (MCEV©) to market 

and insurance risks.  

The Group’s embedded value reporting is based on European Insurance CFO Forum Market Consistent Embedded 

Value© Principles (MCEV Principles) introduced in June 2008, as amended in October 2009 and updated in 

April 2016.  

The Brazilian subsidiary Caixa Seguros has continued to apply the Group’s traditional reporting procedure and 
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deterministic models are used by smaller Group entities whose policies do not generally include options or financial 

guarantees. The valuation techniques used to measure financial options are based on market consistent financial 

assumptions at 31 December 2019. 

The calculation of embedded value necessarily relies on numerous assumptions with respect to economic 

conditions, operating conditions, policyholders’ behaviour, taxes and other factors, many of which are beyond the 

Company’s control.  Actual future experience may vary from that assumed in the calculation of the embedded value.  

MCEV© is the sum of: 

 adjusted net asset value (ANAV), which corresponds to the market value of assets attributable to 

shareholders after deducting intangible assets, subordinated debt and other items included in In-Force 

covered business. Adjusted net asset value is determined on the valuation date at consolidated level 

excluding non-controlling interests and breaks down into Required Capital and Free Surplus; 

 the value of In-Force business, corresponding to the present value of future profits (PVFP) net of taxes 

generated on In-Force business at the measurement date. MCEV© principles state that the reference yield 

curve may be determined based on the swap curve, as adjusted if appropriate to achieve alignment with 

Solvency II requirements. For the euro zone, the yield curve is extrapolated using the Smith-Wilson method 

from a last liquid point at 20 years with convergence on the ultimate forward rate of 3.90% at 40 years. For 

Brazil, the last liquid point is at 10 years with convergence on the ultimate forward rate of 5.50% at 50 years. 

For the determination of the reference yield curve, the Group has chosen to align its approach with Solvency 

II requirements, by applying a credit risk adjustment and a volatility adjustment to the swap curve where 

permitted. No matching adjustment is applied for Group entities. 

 

The market risk sensitivity of MCEV© is tested to measure the impact of interest rate and equity volatilities. MCEV© 

principles and the Group’s traditional value reporting procedure cover CNP Assurances SA, the Group’s main 

subsidiaries in France, the rest of Europe and Latin America. The sensitivities analysed in 2018 were aligned with 

Solvency II requirements and were as follows: 

 the impact of an immediate positive or negative 50-basis point change in the swap curve. This would result 

in: 

o a revaluation of bond prices, 

o a 50-basis point adjustment to the reinvestment rate for all categories of assets, and 

o a change in discount rates. 

The impact on mathematical reserves for unit-linked portfolios is not measured; 

 the impact of an immediate 25% fall in equity and property prices. This shock implies a 25% fall in the 

market value of equities and property assets, as well as a decrease in the mathematical provisions of 

unit-linked business for the proportion invested in equity and property. 

 

The results of all sensitivity analyses are net of tax and non-controlling interests and, if applicable, net of policyholder 

participation. 

 
(1) Copyright © Stichting CFO Forum Foundation 2008 

 
Sensitivity of MCEV© to interest rate and equity volatilities at 31 December 2019: 
 

 
* The calculation of the impact on MCEV© is based on estimated data. 
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Sensitivity of MCEV© to interest rate and equity volatilities at 31 December 2018: 
 

 
* The calculation of the impact on MCEV© is based on estimated data. 

Sensitivity to insurance risks is presented in Note 26.  
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Note 25 Liquidity risk and asset/liability management 

25.1. Liquidity risk 

25.1.1. Future cash flows from assets 

 
This note discloses future cash flows from assets (redemptions, interest payments, etc.) by period. 

25.1.1.1. Future cash flows from assets at 31 December 2019 

 

 

25.1.1.2. Future cash flows from assets at 31 December 2018 

 

 

25.1.2. Payment projections by maturity 

 
This note discloses estimated future payments on savings, pension and property and casualty contracts, including 
total and partial surrenders. 

The total of these projections is higher than the liabilities reported in the balance sheet because the cash flows are 
capitalised. 

25.1.2.1. Payment projections by maturity at 31 December 2019 

 
 

 

25.1.2.2. Payment projections by maturity at 31 December 2018 
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25.1.3. Contracts with immediate surrender option 

 

 

 
 
Contracts with an immediate surrender option represented a total liability of €278.8 billion at 31 December 2019 
(€268.8 billion at 31 December 2018). This amount, corresponding to insurance and financial liabilities recognised in 
the balance sheet, relates to products with a clause allowing for their surrender or transfer by the policyholder.  
Term creditor products, group employee benefits products, certain annuity products and “Madelin Act” pension 
products do not include a surrender or transfer option.  
The maximum surrender risk indicated above does not take into account the behaviour of policyholders, who tend to 
significantly extend the effective duration of their contracts, as reflected in Note 25.1.2. 
 

25.2. Asset/Liability management 

 
The Group’s ALM policy is presented in section 5 of this Registration Document on Corporate Governance and 
Internal Control. 

25.3. Reconciliation of unit-linked assets and liabilities 

 

  

The asset/liability mismatch on unit-linked contracts mainly relates to outstanding claims reserves and other reserves 

included in linked liabilities for which no related assets are included in the above table.   
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Note 26 Risks related to insurance and financial liabilities 

26.1. Management of risks related to insurance and financial liabilities 

 

CNP Assurances’ insurance businesses expose it to a number of risks, particularly those re lating to product 
development, calculating adequate reserves and devising its reinsurance strategy. 
 
The Group has established management information systems designed to ensure that it fulfils its objectives. 
 
These management information systems: 

 analyse risk-adjusted profitability during the product launch process; 

 roll down Group objectives to the level of the individual businesses; 

 analyse the components of profit and value creation and the basis used for underwriting and pricing 
decisions, as well as determining the appropriate pricing and reserving strategies; 

 analyse changes in risk exposures; 

 optimise reinsurance strategies. 
 

These routine analyses are supported by stress tests performed on key economic and technical assumptions to 
measure their impact on the Group’s performance indicators. 

Asset and liability projections are produced annually and are used to calculate policyholder dividend rates for the 
year, as well as to produce budgets and multi-year business plans.  
 

The Group’s risk management policy is presented in section 5 of this Registration Document on Corporate 
Governance and Internal Control. 
 

26.2. Contract terms and conditions 

26.2.1. Types of insured risk by class of business 

 
The Group offers a full range of insurance products in France, in several other European countries and in Latin 
America. 
The main individual insurance products are savings products, deferred annuity contracts paying a regular income, 
with or without the option of receiving a lump sum, and return-of-premium life insurance policies. Premiums on these 
products may be invested in traditional and/or unit-linked funds. 
Group policies are mainly defined contribution pension plans, points-based pay-as-you-go group pension plans, 
employee benefits plans and term creditor insurance. 
 
In addition, the Group’s subsidiaries in Brazil (Caixa Seguradora) and in Cyprus and Greece (CNP Cyprus Insurance 
Holdings) write property & casualty and liability insurance. As commitments under property & casualty and liability 
insurance are marginal in relation to those arising from the life and protection insurance written by the Group, no 
details are provided here of the specific risks associated with these contracts. 
 
Insurer risks differ depending on the type of policy: 
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Savings contracts give rise to mainly financial risks 
Savings contracts fall into two broad categories: 
 

 traditional savings contracts where the insurer may offer a capital guarantee plus a share of the investment 
yield. The capital guarantee offered with savings contracts exposes the insurer to a risk in a low interest rate 
environment. The insurer may also commit to paying a guaranteed yield topped up with a share of the 
investment yield. The yield guarantee is for a fixed period. These guarantees give rise to financial risks (see 
section 4.1.2 - Risk factors linked to the financial markets and Note 26.4 - Risk associated with guaranteed 
yields on insurance and financial liabilities). Most savings contracts include an early surrender option for a 
contractually fixed amount. The policy surrender rate will depend on stock market performance, the 
performance of contracts being marketed by the competition, policyholder behaviour (e.g., a need to raise 
cash), customer confidence, and tax-related matters. A wave of surrenders could materially impact earnings 
or even solvency in extreme conditions. Traditional savings products are exposed to surrender risk in the 
event of a sharp and rapid increase in interest rates. This would generate unrealised losses, some of which 
would be recognised directly in equity, thus impacting both earnings and solvency (see section 4.1.2 – 
Interest rate risk). 

 unit-linked contracts, where the policyholder bears the financial risk and the insurer’s commitment is limited 
to guaranteeing the liquidity of the underlying assets. If the underlying assets cannot be sold on the market, 
this may result in a loss for the insurer who would have an obligation to settle the amount due to the 
policyholder (in the event of death, surrender of the policy or otherwise) without being able to finance the 
payout using the proceeds from the sale of the assets. In addition, because the policyholder bears the 
financial risk, the presentation of the product is governed by detailed rules, giving rise to a compliance risk 
(see section 4.1.2 – Compliance risk). Lastly, the insurer is also exposed to a financial risk to the extent that 
a fall in value of the assets held in the unit-linked portfolio reduces the calculation base for the asset loading. 
The various risks have been identified and unit-linked products are subjected to an internal analysis and 
selection process before being marketed. Unit-linked contracts also expose the Group to the surrender risk 
described above, to the extent that surrenders also reduce the calculation base for the asset loading. For 
this type of contract, the insurer’s commitment is limited to the additional cover provided under the contract, 
consisting generally of a guaranteed death benefit. A bear market combined with higher-than-expected 
losses could severely hit earnings on savings products. 

 
Pension products give rise to mainly financial and underwriting risks  

Risks associated with annuity-based pension portfolios concern: 
•    the benefit payment period, which is not known in advance; 
•    the interest rate, corresponding to the return on the capital managed by the insurer. 
For these contracts, results are determined by long-term financial management policies and actual mortality rates 
compared with assumptions. Technical reserves are generally calculated using regulatory mortality tables based on 
statistical data on population trends. In certain cases, experience-based data is also used. Earnings or equity are 
potentially exposed to the risk that actual demographic trends may turn out to be significantly different to those 
predicted in the mortality tables or to the risk that returns on plan assets will fall significantly short of the valuation 
rate of interest used in the pricing model. 
 
Personal risk policies give rise to mainly underwriting risks 
 
Personal risk/protection contracts comprise various types of guarantees covering such risks as death, temporary or 
permanent disability, long-term care, health and unemployment. 
The Group establishes risk selection and reinsurance policies and monitors statistical data concerning the 
policyholder base and related loss ratios. In addition, products are subject to regular pricing reviews based on loss 
experience to ensure that margins remain adequate. 
Asymmetric information available to policyholders and insurers gives rise to a risk of anti-selection, although this is 
attenuated by the use of medical questionnaires, deferred periods and/or other measures. 
The Group’s business may be affected by the occurrence of natural or man-made catastrophes. Aside from the 
immediate effects of a wave of global climate-related disasters, acts of terrorism, the spread of pandemics, or fallout 
from global warming, such events could also significantly impact the results of certain personal insurance 
businesses. 
The increase in the legal retirement age in France has also had an adverse impact as benefits are payable until the 
policyholder retires. 
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The term creditor insurance business also exposes the Group to surrender risk in connection with the early 
repayment of the insured loan (which is all the more likely during a period of low interest rates) and to cancellation 
risk. An unexpectedly high surrender rate would modify the average contract duration and could adversely affect the 
business’s profitability. 
In addition, death/disability policies with potentially long benefit payment periods, such as long-term care insurance, 
give rise to financial risks because part of the related profit is derived from the investment income generated during 
the benefit payment period and may be adversely affected by unfavourable financial market trends (such as 
declining interest rates). 
 
Although the main risks to which the Group is exposed are set out above, the list is by no means exhaustive and 
other risks that are currently unknown or are considered minor or not material may prove to have a material impact 
on the Group in the future. The Group may also be exposed to emerging risks, corresponding to new or continually 
evolving risks whose impact is very difficult to measure. Risks that are currently unknown or considered minor may 
have a material adverse effect on the Group in the future. 
 

26.2.2. Description of the main policyholder guarantees 

 
Traditional savings contracts give rise to a commitment to pay a capital sum. These contracts generally pay a 
minimum yield plus policyholder dividends. 

Unit-linked savings contracts do not involve any capital guarantee for the insurer as only the number of units is 
guaranteed. The exception is contracts that also include death and/or disability cover. For these contracts, the 
insurer’s commitment is limited to any positive difference between cumulative gross or net premiums and the value 
of the units. 

Pension contracts – which give rise to a commitment to pay a life annuity – fall into the following categories: 

 voluntary individual pension accounts (“Article 82” accounts) giving rise to the payment of a life annuity from 
retirement. Retirement age is decided by the insured and a reversionary pension may be paid to a named 
beneficiary. The contract includes an option to convert the annuity into a lump sum; 

 compulsory individual pension accounts (“Article 83” accounts) giving rise to the payment of a life annuity. 
The total annuities paid to the insured are based directly on the insured’s salary during the contribution 
period and a reversionary pension may be paid to a named beneficiary; 

 defined benefit plans (“Article 39” plans) funded by contributions based on total payroll. The contributions are 
paid into a mutual fund. When each plan participant retires, the total amount of future pension benefits is 
transferred from the mutual fund to the pension fund. Benefits are paid in the form of annuities; 

 points-based pay-as-you-go group pension plans (“Article L.441-1” plans) giving rise to the payment of 
annuities corresponding to the number of points earned during the contribution period multiplied by the value 
of one point. Annuities are adjusted based on changes in the value of a point; 

 individual and unit-linked pay-as-you-go pension plans distributed in Brazil, offering the option of receiving 
either a lump sum or a regular income; immediate and deferred annuity contracts, giving rise to the payment 
of annuities immediately or at the end of a specified period. 
 
 

 
Contracts to fund length-of-service awards payable to employees in France on retirement are also qualified as 
pension contracts. Under these contracts, the insurer’s liability for the payment of benefits is limited to the amount 
held in the related fund. 
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Personal risk contracts comprise various types of primary guarantees covering such risks as death, temporary or 
permanent disability, long-term care, health and unemployment. The main types of contracts are as follows: 

 term life insurance, renewable term insurance, long-term insurance and whole life insurance contracts, which 
pay a lump sum in the case of death or permanent disability of the insured. Most of them include an 
accidental death option whereby the death benefit provided for under the primary guarantee is doubled or 
tripled;  

 contracts paying a temporary or life annuity to dependent children or the spouse on the death of the insured; 

 death/disability contracts providing for the payment of a lump sum in the case of death of the insured or a per 
diem allowance for temporary disability or a lump sum or annuities for permanent disability. Temporary 
disability benefits are payable on a monthly basis, in some cases after a waiting period; 

 term creditor contracts, which cover all or part of an outstanding loan in the case of death of the insured, or 
monthly repayments – less a specified deductible – during a period of temporary disability or until the insured 
is recognised as being permanently disabled, or all or part of the monthly repayments in the case of 
permanent disability, or all or part of the monthly repayments after a waiting period in the case of 
unemployment. In France, death cover is compulsory and the loan will not be paid out until evidence of cover 
is provided; 

 long-term care insurance contracts, providing for the payment of a fixed annuity covering part of the cost of 
long-term care. The amount of the annuity depends on the option selected by the insured; 

 supplementary health insurance contracts, which cover all or part of the healthcare costs incurred by the 
insured, the insured’s spouse and dependent children, that are not reimbursed by the social security 
authorities. 

 
In addition, the Group’s subsidiaries in Brazil (Caixa Seguros) and in Cyprus and Greece (CNP Cyprus Insurance 
Holdings) write property and casualty and liability insurance. The cover provided under these contracts is determined 
in accordance with local insurance regulations. Commitments under property & casualty and liability insurance are 
marginal in relation to those arising from the personal insurance written by the Group. 

26.2.3. Participation clauses 

Traditional savings contracts, certain group personal risk contracts and certain pension contracts include 
participation clauses. Under the terms of these clauses, the parties agree to share – on the basis defined in the 
contract – part of the income generated by the investment of the funds corresponding to the contract’s technical 
reserves and, in the case of pension and personal risk contracts, part of the underwriting result. 
 
Most contracts contain a discretionary participation feature, whereby the participation allocated to the insured is 
determined by the insurer as part of its marketing policy subject to compliance with the contract terms and the 
applicable laws. Participation is determined based on investment income for the year and the insurer has full 
discretion over the volume of capital gains realised during the period. The insured do not have individual rights to the 
participation until it is allocated to benefits or mathematical reserves. Participation that has not yet been allocated is 
accumulated in the policyholders’ surplus reserve. 
 
Participation rates are determined based on the local accounts. 
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26.3. Valuation of insurance liabilities (assumptions and sensitivities) 

26.3.1. Technical reserve models 

Technical reserves are defined as follows: 

 mathematical reserves correspond to the difference between the present values of the respective 
commitments of the insurer and the insured; 

 policyholder surplus reserves correspond to the participation attributed to the contract beneficiaries that is 
not payable in bonuses in the year following the one in which the surplus was generated; 

 general administrative expense reserves are intended to cover future contract administration costs that are 
not otherwise covered; 

 escalating risks reserves correspond to the difference between the present values of the respective 
commitments of the insurer and the insured under temporary and permanent disability and long-term care 
contracts; 

 unearned premium reserves cover the portion of written and accrued premiums for the period between the 
reporting date and the next premium payment date or the contract expiry date. They are recorded for all 
types of contracts; 

 premium deficiency reserves cover the portion of claims and benefits and the related handling costs for the 
period between the reporting date and the earliest possible premium adjustment date or the contract expiry 
date that is not covered by the unearned premium reserve; 

 outstanding claims reserves cover the estimated principal amounts and internal and external expenses 
payable to settle all outstanding claims, including total future annuity payments. 

 

26.3.2. Modelling objectives 

Technical reserves are modelled based on current accounting standards. In particular, mortality tables, discount 
rates and investment yield assumptions may be selected based on a Solvency II approach. 
 

26.3.3. Procedure for determining the main assumptions 

The assessment of technical reserves is supported by: 

 detailed knowledge of effective dates and the timing of accounting recognition and processing of the various 
technical and management events, as well as of the exact specifications of period-end processing 
operations and their scheduling, in order to accurately determine the underwriting and loss years; 

 the creation of files at each period-end to check the consistency of reserves with technical flows; 

 recurring audits of management system calculations, based on random tests and detailed repeat 
calculations; 

 detailed risk assessments, based on prospective guaranteed yield calculations taking into account 
commitments in excess of regulatory limits, and on detailed statistical and other analyses of personal risk 
contracts, including loss monitoring (by contract/underwriting year/loss year) and tracking of the utilisation of 
reserves. 

 

26.3.4. Assumptions used to calculate reserves  

Technical reserves for non-life insurance do not have to be discounted under French insurance regulations (with the 
exception of the annuity component). 
 
Mathematical reserves for individual savings products are stated net of deferred participation and withdrawals, in 
accordance with the applicable regulations. 
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Mathematical reserves for individual and group pension plans (with the exception of “Article L.441” plans) are 
calculated using the discount rate applicable at the contractual date (i.e., the contractual rate) or the premium 
payment date or benefit settlement date, depending on the type of policy.  
 
Reserves for group personal risk products and term creditor insurance are generally calculated based on discount 
rates.  
 
All other assumptions are determined by reference to internal experience-based data. 
 

26.3.5. Use of different assumptions  

Certain assumptions use data extrapolated from past experience or prospective data that draw upon: 
 

 economic, demographic, social, legislative, regulatory or financial trends; 

 policyholder behaviour (surrender rate, renewal/non-renewal rate, etc.); 

 factors specific to life insurance such as mortality, morbidity or longevity. 
 

While the assumptions used appear reasonable at the measurement date, actual future experience may be 
significantly different.  
 
The keys used to allocate unrealised gains between technical reserves and own funds were re-calibrated in 2016. A 
method has been developed based on historical payments to insureds and referral agents, representing a robust and 
simple approach that is consistent with the Group’s practices. 
 
In addition, the related documentation has been enhanced to provide a better audit trail.  

26.3.6. Assumption correlations 

Apart from the use of dynamic surrender rates reflecting the correlation between surrender rates and the level of 
guaranteed yields for liability adequacy testing purposes, correlations among the various assumptions are not taken 
into account. 
 

26.3.7. Sensitivity of MCEV© to changes in surrender rates and loss ratios 

Uncertainties concerning insurance cash flows mainly relate to the timing of surrenders and the payment of death 
and other benefits. 
At 31 December 2019, a 10% fall in surrender rates would have a positive impact of €107 million on MCEV©. A 
5% fall in observed losses would have a positive impact of €131 million on MCEV© for mortality and disability risks, 
and a negative impact of €103 million for longevity risks. 
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26.4. Risk associated with guaranteed yields on insurance and financial liabilities 

 
Traditional savings contracts with a guaranteed yield have been classified by level of commitment, as follows (in 
declining order): 

 contracts offering a guaranteed minimum yield and a guaranteed profit participation when the contract 
matures; 

 contracts offering an enhanced yield (generally 75% of the TME rate) over a maximum of eight years; 

 contracts offering a guaranteed minimum yield representing less than 60% of the TME rate at the time of 
payment. 

Technical reserves on traditional savings contracts are analysed by guaranteed yield in the following tables. 

  

(1) Corresponds to technical reserves for life insurance contracts without a guaranteed yield 
(2) Technical reserves for contracts with a guaranteed yield of more than 4.5% mainly concern Caixa Seguros in Brazil, where bond rates 

are above 7% (see Note 24.3) 
(3) Comprises all other technical reserves, except for mathematical reserves and linked liabilities, i.e., non-life technical reserves, 

policyholder surplus reserves and claims reserves 

 

 

(1) Corresponds to technical reserves for life insurance contracts without a guaranteed yield 
(2) Technical reserves for contracts with a guaranteed yield of more than 4.5% mainly concern Caixa Seguradora in Brazil, where bond 

rates are above 7% (see Note 24.3) 
(3) Comprises all other technical reserves, except for mathematical reserves and linked liabilities, i.e., non-life technical reserves, 

policyholder surplus reserves and claims reserves 
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26.5. Concentration of insurance risk 

26.5.1. Use of reinsurance to reduce concentrations of insurance risk  

The Group’s reinsurance programmes are designed to avoid earnings fluctuations and increase its underwriting 
capacity. The objectives of the reinsurance policy defined by the Board of Directors are as follows: 

 to implement a reinsurance programme covering direct business and inward reinsurance written for 
provident institutions and subsidiaries; 

 to protect underwriting results by entering into non-proportional treaties which are geared to the size of the 
Group and provide excess-of-loss cover per occurrence (catastrophe risk) and excess-of-loss per insured 
and excess mortality cover (pandemic risk); 

 to share risks on large-scale new business. 

26.5.2. Loss exposure per catastrophe and per occurrence  

All portfolios are covered by catastrophe/accident excess-of-loss reinsurance obtained from professional reinsurers. 

 Individual policies: accidental death and permanent and total disability risks for all portfolios of individual 
policies (direct business and inward reinsurance written by CNP Assurances for its CNP UniCredit Vita and 
CNP Partners subsidiaries) are reinsured on the market as follows: for each catastrophic loss event – 
defined as an event involving at least three victims – the Group retains €400 thousand per event and the 
reinsurers cover €10 million per event and €20 million per year. 

 Group policies: 

a) accidental death and disability risks on all group policies (direct business net of risks ceded to co-
insurers, and all quota-share reinsurance purchased from CNP Assurances by employee benefits 
institutions and mutual insurers) are covered through the Bureau Commun des Assurances 
Collectives pool (Décès­IPA3 policy). The system provides successively for the retention of the two 
largest claims per insurer, €600 million in co-insurance cover (of which CNP Assurances’ share is 
30%) and reinsurance cover purchased by the pool from external reinsurers. This external 
reinsurance cover exists in six layers (of which CNP Assurances has only underwritten mandatory 
layers 2, 3 and 4): layer 1: 20 XS €30 million; layer 2: 150 XS €50 million; layer 3:  200 XS €200 
million; layer 4:    200 XS €400 million; level 5: 100 XS €600 million; level 6: 300 XS €700 million. A 
loss event is defined as involving three or more victims; 

b) risks insured by CNP Assurances for employee benefits institutions and mutual insurers are fully 
reinsured on the market. This concerns stop-loss cover provided under the relevant partnership 
agreements (90% XS 110% or 30% XS 110%) 

All term creditor insurance and employee benefits portfolios are also covered beyond €2 million for high capital 
payouts in the case of IPA3 accidental death of an insured. 

Reinsured portfolios are analysed each year, covering: 

 the age pyramid, risk dispersion and concentration of insured populations; 

 the number, size and cause of paid claims, including a detailed analysis of the largest claims; 

 underwriting and reinsurance results. 

All term creditor insurance portfolios have been reinsured against partial losses from pandemic risks since 2016 
under a treaty arranged through the Bureau Commun des Assurances Collectives. In 2018, the original treaty was 
replaced by a new treaty with a reinsurance pool offering enhanced cover. The treaty covers a 0.05% increase in the 
mortality rate beyond an average rate of 0.15% (based on number of deaths), subject to a 0.05% deductible and a 
maximum reinsurance payout of €50 million. The reinsurers’ commitment amounts to €155 million. The treaty covers 
the pandemic risk excluded from the coverage of accidental death/disability resulting from catastrophic events   

Reinsurance balances are net settled at quarterly, half-yearly or annual intervals depending on the treaty. There are 
currently no disputed balances. 
  



Consolidated financial statements – 31 December 2019 

 

 

 

133 

 

26.5.3. Counterparty risk on reinsurance balances 

The Group regularly checks the solvency of its reinsurance partners. The discriminating criteria applied for the 
selection of these partners include their credit rating. In addition, reinsurers must be domiciled in a country approved 
by the Compliance department. 

Excess-of-loss contracts have been placed with reinsurers who are rated between BBB+ and AA+ (see Note 9.9). 

26.5.4. Insurance-related legal risks 

The Group’s insurance-related legal risks and its risk management policy are presented in section 5 of this 
Registration Document on Corporate Governance and Internal Control. 
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Note 27 Commitments given and received 
 
Under IFRS, forward financial instruments are recognised in the balance sheet.  
 
Reported commitments given and received now include the value of collateralised debt obligations transferred under 
securities lending/borrowing and repurchase/resale transactions. 
 

  

Securities commitments correspond to securities pledged to reinsurers under the terms of outward reinsurance 
contracts. 
 

The Group is committed to paying R$7.0 billion pursuant to the binding memorandum of understanding with Caixa 
Seguridade (see Note 1) on the closing date, i.e., €1.53 billion converted at the exchange rate on the day the 
renegotiated amount was announced on 19 September 2019.  

This future payment has been recorded as a financing commitment. At the exchange rate as of 31 December 2019, 
the commitment amounted to €1.56 billion. 
The currency risk associated with the upfront payment has been hedged (Note 8.7). 
 

  

Securities commitments correspond to securities pledged by ceding insurers under the terms of inward reinsurance 
contracts. 

 
 


